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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·BE IT REMEMBERED that on Wednesday,
·2· ·September 17, 2025, at 621 Woodland Square Loop
·3· ·Southeast, Lacey, Washington, at 1:32 p.m., the
·4· ·following monthly meeting of the Washington State
·5· ·Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council was held, to
·6· ·wit:
·7
·8· · · · · · · · · · · ·<<<<<< >>>>>>
·9
10· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Good afternoon.· If
11· ·I could have everyone's attention, please.
12· · · ·This is Kurt Beckett calling the September 17th
13· ·meeting of the Energy Facility Siting Council to
14· ·order.· It's 1:32 p.m.
15· · · ·And, Ms. Barker, if you could call the roll,
16· ·please.
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Certainly.
18· · · ·Department of Commerce.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. OSBORNE:· Elizabeth Osborne,
20· ·present.
21· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Department of Ecology.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LEVITT:· Eli Levitt, present.
23· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Department of Fish and
24· ·Wildlife.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Nate Pamplin,
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·1· ·present.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Department of Natural
·3· ·Resources.
·4· · · ·Utilities and Transportation Commission.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· Stacey Brewster,
·6· ·present.
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Local government and
·8· ·optional State agencies.
·9· · · ·For the Hop Hill project, Paul Krupin.
10· · · ·For the Carriger Solar project, Matt Chiles.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. CHILES:· Matt Chiles, present.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· The Wallula Gap
13· ·project, Adam Fyall.
14· · · ·For the Goldeneye BESS project, Robby Eckroth.
15· · · ·Assistant attorney generals.· Jon Thompson.
16· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· Present.
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Zack Packer.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PACKER:· Present.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Talia Thuet.
20· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. THUET:· Present.
21· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· For EFSEC staff, I
22· ·will call those anticipated to speak today.
23· · · ·Ami Hafkemeyer.
24· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· Present.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Amy Moon.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Present.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Sara Randolph.
·3· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Present.
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Sean Greene.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Present.
·6· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· John Barnes.
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. BARNES:· Present.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Joanne Snarski.
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. SNARSKI:· Here.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· For optional --
11· ·operational updates.
12· · · ·Kittitas Valley wind project.
13· · · ·Wild Horse Wind Power Project.
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. GALBRAITH:· Jennifer Galbraith,
15· ·present.
16· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Grays Harbor Energy
17· ·Center.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PACE:· Pace, present.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Chehalis Generation
20· ·Facility.
21· · · ·Columbia Generating Station.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LaPORTE:· Josh LaPorte,
23· ·present.
24· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Columbia Solar.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. DRACHENBERG:· Elizabeth
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·1· ·Drachenberg, present.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Goose Prairie Solar.
·3· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. JIA:· Nelson Jia, present.
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Ostrea Solar.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. VOLTZ:· Jon Voltz, present.
·6· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Is there anyone online
·7· ·for the counsel of the environment?
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. REYNEVELD:· Sarah Reyneveld is
·9· ·present.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Chair, there is a
11· ·quorum for all councils.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you very
13· ·much.
14· · · ·Council members, we have a posted agenda before
15· ·us.
16· · · ·Is there a motion to adopt the agenda?
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Mr. Chair, this is
18· ·Nate Pamplin.· I move that we approve the agenda.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you, Council.
20· · · ·Is there a second?
21· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· Stacey Brewster.
22· ·Second.
23· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you, Council.
24· · · ·The agenda has been moved and seconded, is on the
25· ·table.· Are there any comments or changes to the
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·1· ·agenda from the Council?
·2· · · ·Hearing none.· All those in favor of approving
·3· ·the agenda, say "aye."
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·MULTIPLE SPEAKERS:· Aye.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Opposed?
·6· · · ·Agenda is approved.
·7· · · ·Moving on to approval of minutes.· Council, we
·8· ·have the minutes before us.· Is there a motion to
·9· ·approve the minutes?
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. OSBORNE:· Elizabeth Osborne.
11· ·So moved.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you, Council.
13· · · ·Second?
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Second.
15· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you, Council
16· ·Pamplin.
17· · · ·The minutes are on the table.· Are there any
18· ·changes or amendments to the minutes from Council?
19· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· This is Stacey
20· ·Brewster.· I have one change.
21· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Please.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· On Page 27, Line 24,
23· ·the word is "needs."· Should be changed to "meets,"
24· ·m-e-e-t-s.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you, Council
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·1· ·Brewster.
·2· · · ·Are there other -- I'm sure that will be taken as
·3· ·a friendly amendment.
·4· · · ·Are there any other comments or changes?
·5· · · ·Okay.· Then hearing none, we will treat that
·6· ·suggestion as a friendly amendment.
·7· · · ·And all in favor of approving the minutes as
·8· ·amended, please say "aye."
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·MULTIPLE SPEAKERS:· Aye.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Opposed, say "nay."
11· · · ·Minutes are approved.· Thank you.
12· · · ·Moving on to our project updates.
13· · · ·Kittitas Valley wind project.· Mr. Caseday.
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. CASEDAY:· Yes.· Good afternoon,
15· ·Chair Beckett, EFSEC Council, and staff.· I'm sorry
16· ·that I did not call roll call, but this is Jarred
17· ·Caseday with EDP Renewables for the Kittitas Valley
18· ·wind power project.
19· · · ·And we had nothing nonroutine to report for the
20· ·period.
21· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you.
22· · · ·Moving on to the Wild Horse Wind Power Project.
23· ·Ms. Galbraith.
24· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. GALBRAITH:· Yes.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Galbraith.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. GALBRAITH:· Thank you, Chair
·2· ·Beckett, Council members, and EFSEC staff.· This is
·3· ·Jennifer Galbraith from Puget Sound Energy
·4· ·representing the Wild Horse wind facility.
·5· · · ·I have a few updates for this reporting period.
·6· ·First, the Wild Horse Technical Advisory Committee
·7· ·met on August 21st for the annual meeting.· The
·8· ·meeting was held jointly with the Wild Horse
·9· ·coordinated resource management group to review
10· ·history, agreements, processes, and results,
11· ·upgrades, and management since inception of the Wild
12· ·Horse CRM in 2006.
13· · · ·This was an informational meeting.· There were no
14· ·items that required formal actions or recommendations
15· ·from the TAC for the Council's consideration.
16· · · ·For the second update, as requested in a letter
17· ·received from Ami Hafkemeyer, EFSEC director of
18· ·siting and compliance, PSE provided a status update
19· ·on our plans to install FAA-approved light-mitigating
20· ·technology at Wild Horse in accordance with new
21· ·legislative requirements to reduce light pollution at
22· ·wind energy facilities in Washington State.
23· · · ·As required by the RCW, PSE will apply to the FAA
24· ·prior to January 1st, 2028, and will install a new
25· ·light-mitigating system within 24 months of receiving
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·1· ·FAA approval.
·2· · · ·And for the final update, as of today, there has
·3· ·been no change to the damaged wind turbine tower
·4· ·initially reported to the Council on July 14th.· We
·5· ·continue to monitor the turbine 24/7 and are
·6· ·developing plans to safely decommission the tower
·7· ·following the wildfire season.· Emergency responders
·8· ·remain on standby in the event of tower failure, and
·9· ·the site will remain closed to the publ- -- pubic
10· ·access for the remainder of 2025.
11· · · ·Thank you very much.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you very much
13· ·for the update.
14· · · ·Any questions or comments from Council?
15· · · ·Okay.· Hearing none.
16· · · ·Moving on to Chehalis Generation Facility.
17· ·Mr. Smith and Randolph, Sara Randolph.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Thank you, Chair
19· ·Beckett, Council members, and staff.· For the record,
20· ·this is Sara Randolph, site specialist for Chehalis.
21· · · ·The facility update is provided in your packet.
22· ·Last month, it was discussed that the flow level of
23· ·the Chehalis River, the facility's water source, had
24· ·dropped below 165 cubic feet per second.· With enough
25· ·rainfall, the facility was able to resume withdrawal
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·1· ·of water, that they did not need to purchase water to
·2· ·maintain operations.· As a result, a special Council
·3· ·meeting to take up action to approve purchase of
·4· ·water from the City was not needed.
·5· · · ·Staff met with Chehalis facility to develop a
·6· ·plan for anticipating Council action during periods
·7· ·of low river flow.· The facility will notify EFSEC as
·8· ·soon as they begin using their reserves, giving us
·9· ·earlier notice than in the past.· Staff will also
10· ·communicate with the facility periodically, while
11· ·reserves are being used, to track the potential need
12· ·for Council action.
13· · · ·This approach will be used for the next two to
14· ·three years.· However, if the plan proves
15· ·insufficient, staff will reopen discussions with the
16· ·facility and may propose addressing the issue through
17· ·an amendment to the site certification agreement, or
18· ·the SCA.· Thank you.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you very
20· ·much.
21· · · ·And I don't believe we had Jeremy Smith with us
22· ·today.· I just wanted to confirm.
23· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· I didn't hear him on
24· ·the line.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Yeah.· Okay.· Thank
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·1· ·you.· And thank you, again, for the update.
·2· · · ·Moving on to Grays Harbor Energy Center.· Eric --
·3· ·Mr. Pace, if you're on, as well as then followed by
·4· ·Sara Randolph again.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PACE:· Good afternoon, Chair
·6· ·Beckett, EFSEC Council, and staff.· Eric Pace
·7· ·reporting for Grays Harbor.
·8· · · ·Grays Harbor Energy does not have anything
·9· ·nonroutine to report for the period.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you,
11· ·Mr. Pace.
12· · · ·Ms. Randolph?
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Yes.· Chair Beckett,
14· ·Council members, and staff, for the record again,
15· ·this is Sara Randolph, site specialist for Grays
16· ·Harbor.
17· · · ·The facility update is provided in your packet.
18· ·There are two items that will be discussed for the
19· ·Council.· First is the National Pollutant Discharge
20· ·Elimination System, or NPDES, permit renewal.· And
21· ·second is the air operating permit, or the AOP,
22· ·renewal.
23· · · ·EFSEC received NPDES permit renewal application
24· ·from the facility on December 17th, 2023, and permit
25· ·ending June 30th, 2024, and has continued to operate
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·1· ·under an administrative extension which was approved
·2· ·by EFSEC for the previous NPDES permit in accordance
·3· ·with Washington Administrative Code, or WAC,
·4· ·173.220.180.
·5· · · ·Grays Harbor submitted an engineering report
·6· ·which was followed by several rounds of a review and
·7· ·coordination between the EFSEC staff and the
·8· ·facility.· EFSEC approved the engineering report on
·9· ·April 2nd and has been working with our contractor at
10· ·Ecology to develop the NPDES renewal permit.
11· · · ·Staff have made a tentative determination to
12· ·issue the following public comment.· Will bring the
13· ·comments and documents to Council for vote on final
14· ·issuance after the comment period.· Staff recommend
15· ·that the comment period begins on September 29th and
16· ·continue for 30 days, ending at close of business on
17· ·October 28th.
18· · · ·A public meeting is not planned for this comment
19· ·period.· Historically, public meetings for the
20· ·facility's permits have not been attended by the
21· ·public, and a meeting is not required.· However, we
22· ·will have one if requested.
23· · · ·If there are any questions on any technical
24· ·aspects of the permit, our contractors with Ecology
25· ·are here and able to address any concerns.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council, any
·2· ·question or comment?· I'll check on my screen here
·3· ·again since we have some of our members online.
·4· · · ·Okay.· I don't think so.· So moving --
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Okay.
·6· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· -- on.· Thank you,
·7· ·Ms. Randolph.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Yes.· I'll continue
·9· ·on for the air operating permit, or AOP.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Sorry.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· No.· All good.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· The AOP first
14· ·notification was issued by EFSEC July 17th, 2024.
15· ·The AOP renewal application was submitted on December
16· ·11th, 2024, adding in the acid rain permit in with a
17· ·Title V AOP permit, ending June 17, 2025, and
18· ·continue to operate under administrative extension.
19· · · ·The acid rain permit contains the statement of
20· ·basis; SO2 allowances under -- allocated under this
21· ·permit; and NOx requirements for each affected unit;
22· ·comments, notes, and justifications regarding permit
23· ·decisions and changes made to the permit application;
24· ·and any additional requirements or conditions as per
25· ·WAC 173-406-501, acid rain permit contents, as
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·1· ·adopted by WAC 463-78.
·2· · · ·The permit application submitted for this source
·3· ·per WAC 173-406-106, standard requirements as adopted
·4· ·by WAC 463-78, the owners and operators of the source
·5· ·must comply with the standard requirements and
·6· ·special provisions set forth in the application.· In
·7· ·accordance with WAC 463-78, general and operating
·8· ·permit regulations for air pollution sources, which
·9· ·adopts WAC 173-406, acid rain regulation, and
10· ·WAC 173-401, operating permit regulation, is based on
11· ·the provisions of Title 40, Code of Federal
12· ·Regulations, or CFR, Parts 72 through 76, which is
13· ·part of the Title IV of the Clean Air Act.
14· · · ·In accordance with WAC 173-406-103, Combustion
15· ·Turbine Generator No. 1, or CTG 1, and CTG 2 are
16· ·utility units because they serve generators greater
17· ·than 25 megawatts and do not qualify for any of the
18· ·exemptions provided under the WAC 173-406-103.· As
19· ·such, they are subject to the acid rain requirements
20· ·under WAC 173-406.
21· · · ·In coordination with Olympic Region Clean Air
22· ·Agency, or ORCAA, staff have reviewed the application
23· ·materials.· Staff are finalizing documents to put out
24· ·for public comment and anticipate it to go out for
25· ·public comment on October 6.
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·1· · · ·Following public comment period, staff will bring
·2· ·the comments and documents to Council.· If no
·3· ·substantive comments, then it will go to the
·4· ·Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, for EPA to
·5· ·review for 45 days.· Once the EPA has concluded their
·6· ·review, staff will bring the permit back to the
·7· ·Council to vote for issuance.
·8· · · ·If there are any questions on any technical
·9· ·aspects of the permit, our contractors from ORCAA are
10· ·here and able to address any concerns.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you,
12· ·Ms. Randolph.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. RANDOLPH:· Thank you.· Thank
14· ·you.
15· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council, any
16· ·questions or further feedback for the staff?
17· ·Appreciate the thorough update.
18· · · ·Okay.· Hearing and seeing none.· We will move on
19· ·to Columbia Solar.· Ms. Drachenberg.
20· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. DRACHENBERG:· Good afternoon,
21· ·Chair, EFSEC Council, and staff.· This is Elizabeth
22· ·Drachenberg, Columbia Solar.
23· · · ·There are no nonroutine updates to report for
24· ·this period.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you.
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·1· · · ·Moving on to the Columbia Generating Station and
·2· ·WNP 1 and 4.· And my understanding is Josh LaPorte is
·3· ·with us to give the update today.
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LaPORTE:· That's correct, Chair
·5· ·Beckett.· Thank you.
·6· · · ·Good afternoon, EFSEC Council and staff.· This is
·7· ·Josh LaPorte for the Columbia Generating Station and
·8· ·Washington Nuclear Projects 1 and 4.
·9· · · ·The facilities update is included in your packet
10· ·for both sites, and there are no additional
11· ·nonroutine updates to report for the month of August
12· ·for either site.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· And I just
14· ·want to acknowledge the staff's update as well on
15· ·some of the previous environmental issues of the last
16· ·meeting.· I assume we have nothing further on that,
17· ·but let me just double-check with Ms. Hafkemeyer.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· That's correct.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· That
20· ·concludes the update, then.· Unless there were
21· ·questions from Council.· Seeing none.
22· · · ·Moving on, then, to Goose Prairie.· Mr. Jia.
23· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. JIA:· Good afternoon, everyone.
24· ·This is Nelson providing an update for the month of
25· ·August.



Page 22

·1· · · ·Total generation, approximately 21,667 megawatt
·2· ·hours.· And on some positive news, all of our
·3· ·inverters on-site were fully available for the month
·4· ·of August.· So we were able to fix our A/C breaker
·5· ·issue, which is nice.
·6· · · ·Otherwise, no other updates from an environmental
·7· ·safety compliance perspective.· Thank you.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Very well.
·9· · · ·Comments?· Hearing none.
10· · · ·We will move on to Ostrea Solar.· Mr. Voltz.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. VOLTZ:· Thank you, Chair
12· ·Beckett, Council members, and staff.· This is Jon
13· ·Voltz with Cypress Creek Renewables representing
14· ·Ostrea Solar project.
15· · · ·In the month of August, construction progressed
16· ·in full.· All scopes are underway.· We received the
17· ·last of the solar modules.· Those have all been
18· ·delivered out.· The main power transformer is
19· ·on-site, set on the pad, preparing for the dress and
20· ·testing there.· We also received all of the
21· ·inverters.· All 22 have arrived and been set on the
22· ·pad.· So we are continuing with install and
23· ·proceeding toward mechanical completion.
24· · · ·Other than that, nothing nonroutine to report for
25· ·the period.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you,
·2· ·Mr. Voltz.
·3· · · ·I would call out one item that was in the monthly
·4· ·update that I thought was bearing calling out, which
·5· ·was just in terms of local outreaches and I would
·6· ·call it a newer neighbor into Yakima County.· The
·7· ·project had found time amidst its construction
·8· ·schedule to participate in the back-to-school drive
·9· ·for Yakima County Schools.· And just thought that was
10· ·worth noting here in the public session.· So
11· ·appreciate Cypress Creek's effort in that regard.
12· · · ·Unless there's other comments, questions, we will
13· ·move on to Carriger Solar.· And Ms. Snarski is here
14· ·to provide an update on that project, including -- I
15· ·will note for the public that our intent is to signal
16· ·the process in other upcoming public comment periods.
17· ·Some of that is a little bit in flux still, I
18· ·believe, but we'll hear from Ms. Snarski, and she'll
19· ·fill in the details, so...
20· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. SNARSKI:· I'll do my best.
21· · · ·Good afternoon, Chair Beckett and Council
22· ·members.· For the record, this is Joanne Snarski, the
23· ·siting specialist for the proposed Carriger Solar
24· ·facility in Klickitat County.
25· · · ·On June 25th, 2025, the Council voted to send a
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·1· ·recommendation to approve the Carriger Solar facility
·2· ·site certification agreement and was subsequently
·3· ·sent to the governor for review.· On August 22nd,
·4· ·2025, Governor Ferguson provided a letter to Chair
·5· ·Beckett, directing the Council to reconsider certain
·6· ·aspects of the draft site certification agreement.
·7· ·The governor outlined the following actions for EFSEC
·8· ·to take.
·9· · · ·First, EFSEC should give the Yakama Nation an
10· ·opportunity to review and provide input on the June
11· ·19, 2025, memorandum from the EFSEC chair to the
12· ·EFSEC Council members, describing the chair and the
13· ·staff's June 4th, 2025, meeting with the tribe.
14· · · ·Second, EFSEC should give the Yakama Nation an
15· ·opportunity to provide further input on the following
16· ·five mitigation measures.
17· · · ·On the increased setbacks of fencing and solar
18· ·panels from SR 142 and Knight Road; the increased
19· ·setbacks on fencing and solar panels on both north
20· ·and south side of the Department of Natural Resources
21· ·managed parcel, the installation of further screening
22· ·tools, such as earthen berms, rock piles, or native
23· ·vegetation, to further mitigate visual impacts to the
24· ·users of the north side of the adjacent State-owned
25· ·parcel, the DNR parcel; the traffic control plan as
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·1· ·required in the SCA, the site certification
·2· ·agreement, to ensure the tribal -- the tribe has
·3· ·access to its TCPs and that they are maintained
·4· ·throughout construction.
·5· · · ·Finally, the fifth mitigation is that EFSEC will
·6· ·include Yakama Nation in the review of the initial
·7· ·site restoration and the detailed site restoration
·8· ·plans as required in the SCA.
·9· · · ·In response to the request, the governor's
10· ·request, on August 26, 2025, Chair Beckett sent a
11· ·letter to Chairman Gerald Lewis of the Yakama Nation
12· ·Tribal Council.· Chair Beckett requested the tribe
13· ·review all of the actions I just described and sent
14· ·along all of the supporting documentation for that
15· ·review.
16· · · ·In that letter, we requested that the Yakama
17· ·Nation respond to these requests by September 26th in
18· ·order to meet a 60-day timeline that was identified
19· ·by the governor.· Following receipt of additional
20· ·comments from the Yakama Nation, staff will review
21· ·and develop response documents or revisions to the
22· ·draft site certification agreement as appropriate.
23· · · ·We expect these decisional documents to be posted
24· ·for public comment in early October and are currently
25· ·targeting a comment period from August -- or excuse
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·1· ·me -- October 6th through October 19th.· Staff are
·2· ·proposing a special Council meeting on October 21st
·3· ·for the -- for the purposes of Council action.· And
·4· ·we will provide required public notice for this
·5· ·meeting once these details unfold and are available.
·6· · · ·That's all I have for now.
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you.
·8· · · ·So just for clarity of not only the record but
·9· ·for those who may be watching, the public, the
10· ·intended comment period is October 6 through the
11· ·19th.· That will be published officially, so what I
12· ·just stated is not yet in the record officially, but
13· ·that's --
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. SNARSKI:· Correct.
15· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· -- our intent, and
16· ·so we wanted --
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. SNARSKI:· Yes.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· -- to signal that
19· ·as early as we could here in our public meeting
20· ·today.
21· · · ·So, Council, were there other questions, comments
22· ·you wanted to share as a group and/or back to the
23· ·staff?
24· · · ·Council Pamplin.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Yeah, thank you,
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·1· ·Mr. Chair.
·2· · · ·Ms. Snarski, is the Council's decision in June to
·3· ·recommend approval of this project to the governor,
·4· ·since the governor wrote a letter -- and hasn't
·5· ·approved it yet -- and laid out a number of
·6· ·conditions, is there an action that we need to take
·7· ·relative to our June decision, or does that decision
·8· ·essentially kind of die on the vine until we act
·9· ·again at the October meeting?
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. SNARSKI:· I think that's kind
11· ·of a legal question.· Maybe Jon would better be
12· ·suited to answer.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· Yeah, Council Member
14· ·Pamplin, I'd be happy to venture an answer, then.
15· · · ·The section of RCW 80.50, the EFSEC-enabling
16· ·statutes that talks about the steps that happen with
17· ·regard to the Council making a recommendation to the
18· ·governor and then the governor's options thereafter,
19· ·it basically allows the governor to request that the
20· ·Council reconsider certain aspects of the site
21· ·certification agreement.
22· · · ·And then thereafter, depending on what decision
23· ·the Council makes, to return the site certification
24· ·agreement with any revisions that you make.· It
25· ·doesn't talk about amending the recommendation or
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·1· ·anything of that sort.· It's just the only thing that
·2· ·the statute speaks to is just returning the site
·3· ·certification agreement that the governor has asked
·4· ·you to reconsider parts of.
·5· · · ·The recommendation, I wouldn't say it died on the
·6· ·vine.· It's -- you've made your recommendation, and
·7· ·then this is just a follow-on process to focus in on
·8· ·certain aspects of it and decide whether you want to
·9· ·change them at the governor's request and then make
10· ·those amendments to the SCA, if you choose to do so.
11· · · ·Does that answer your question?
12· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Yeah.· Thanks to you
13· ·both.· And I wasn't trying to -- please don't infer
14· ·into the substance of the question.· It was just a
15· ·policy process --
16· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· Yeah.· Yeah.
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· -- relative to an
18· ·action EFSEC took and then do we need to kind of
19· ·unring that bell or just -- or essentially ring it
20· ·again after we see the -- we have the meeting on
21· ·October 21st.· Thank you.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· Well, yeah, if I --
23· ·actually, if I can follow up, Council Member Pamplin.
24· · · ·Yeah, it's -- I think it's a good practice and
25· ·advisable for you to -- to explain what -- what
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·1· ·you've done in response to the governor's direction.
·2· ·And the form that would generally take is a Council
·3· ·resolution, so -- that would -- that would explain,
·4· ·yeah, just explain what you've -- what you've -- what
·5· ·you've done, what you've chosen to do or not do with
·6· ·respect to the terms of the SCA.· I think that would
·7· ·be the --
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· So it'd be a revised
·9· ·SCA or an amended SCA at that time.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· Correct.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Thanks.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· If I could add,
13· ·staff are anticipating developing a resolution to
14· ·capture the process we're engaging in right now and
15· ·proposing that that would go for public comment and
16· ·Council review along with, should there be any
17· ·appropriate revisions to the SCA, both of those would
18· ·be provided together, depending on what ultimately
19· ·comes back -- comes back as comments from Yakama
20· ·Nation, which remains to be seen.
21· · · ·And so the resolution is our plan to sort of
22· ·capture this process, and then any -- any changes or
23· ·additions to an SCA would also be put out for public
24· ·comment as well.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Great.· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· And I would just
·2· ·add that was Ami Hafkemeyer from the EFSEC staff,
·3· ·just for benefit of our minutes.· So thank you for
·4· ·the added context, Ami.
·5· · · ·Other questions or comments from the Carriger
·6· ·Council?
·7· · · ·Okay.· Hearing none.· Let me double-check with
·8· ·Adrienne that we don't have online hands I don't see.
·9· · · ·Okay.· All right.· Then we will move on to the
10· ·Hop Hill solar project, Mr. Barnes.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. BARNES:· Thank you, Chair
12· ·Beckett and Council members.· This is John Barnes,
13· ·EFSEC staff, for the Hop Hill application.
14· · · ·EFSEC staff are awaiting from the applicant's
15· ·supplemental materials concerning project
16· ·enlargement.· These materials are needed for a SEPA
17· ·review and determination of this project.
18· · · ·Once supplemental materials are received, we will
19· ·continue to coordinate and review the application
20· ·with our contractor, contracted agencies, and tribal
21· ·governments.
22· · · ·Are there any questions?
23· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council, questions
24· ·on Hop Hill?· That was kind of an interim update,
25· ·obviously, so...
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·1· · · ·Seeing none.· We will move on to Wallula Gap.
·2· ·Also Mr. Barnes.
·3· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. BARNES:· Thank you, Chair
·4· ·Beckett and Council members.· This is John Barnes,
·5· ·EFSEC staff, for the Wallula Gap application.
·6· · · ·Staff are working with the applicant to complete
·7· ·supplemental wetland report materials.· Staff are
·8· ·also working with the applicant to identify
·9· ·additional analysis and mitigation following receipt
10· ·of the TCP study from the Yakama Nation cultural
11· ·resource program staff.
12· · · ·Are there any questions?
13· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Comments?
14· · · ·Hearing none.· We will move on to Goldeneye
15· ·battery storage project.· Ms. Snarski.
16· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. SNARSKI:· Thank you.· Again,
17· ·this is Joanne Snarski, the siting specialist for the
18· ·proposed Goldeneye battery energy storage facility in
19· ·Skagit County.
20· · · ·Most notably, Chair Beckett and project staff
21· ·members will be traveling to meet with the Upper
22· ·Skagit Indian Tribe for government-to-government
23· ·consultation.· The meeting is a special meeting for
24· ·the tribal council specifically to consult with EFSEC
25· ·on Goldeneye energy storage project.

Page 32
·1· · · ·It is worth noting, during the scheduling of this
·2· ·consultation, EFSEC made sure the Upper Skagit Tribe
·3· ·was aware that Chair Beckett has recused himself from
·4· ·deliberations and voting on the Council's
·5· ·recommendation to the governor on the Goldeneye BESS
·6· ·project -- or excuse me -- energy storage project.
·7· · · ·The tribe confirmed that they did not object to
·8· ·Chair Beckett representing EFSEC Council for this
·9· ·consultation.· Acting Chair Brewster will be in
10· ·attendance, and staff will work with her to develop
11· ·communications to the Council following the Monday
12· ·meeting.· I don't think I mentioned the date, but the
13· ·date is next Monday, the 22nd, September 22nd.
14· · · ·Finally, staff are continuing to work with our
15· ·partnering agencies to review and seek information on
16· ·the application for site certification.
17· · · ·I have no further updates.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you for the
19· ·updates.
20· · · ·I would just add, as the chair who's recused
21· ·myself on this project in this instance, that Acting
22· ·Chair Brewster -- the two of us attending that
23· ·meeting, in this instance Acting Chair Brewster will
24· ·be the chair by which that input and consultation
25· ·back to the Council for Goldeneye BESS will be
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·1· ·provided by Acting Chair Brewster.· So just wanted to
·2· ·add that for clarity for the record.
·3· · · ·Are there other questions or comments on the
·4· ·Goldeneye battery storage project?
·5· · · ·Any from our local representative?· I don't see
·6· ·any hands.
·7· · · ·Okay.· Then we will move on to our transmission
·8· ·programatic environmental impact statement.· And
·9· ·Mr. Greene will provide us the update.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Thank you.
11· · · ·Good afternoon, Chair Beckett and Council
12· ·members.· This is Sean Greene, SEPA specialist for
13· ·EFSEC.
14· · · ·EFSEC staff and our consultant, WSP, are busy at
15· ·work putting together the final revisions to the
16· ·transmission programatic EIS with an anticipated
17· ·publication date for the final programmatic EIS in
18· ·early October of this year.
19· · · ·Are there any questions?
20· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council, any
21· ·further questions?
22· · · ·I know there is a general intent to continue to
23· ·do some further outreach.· And I'm sorry if I missed
24· ·a piece in my ear from your update just now, but --
25· ·but there is an intent to do some integrated
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·1· ·outreach, including with the Department of Ecology,
·2· ·knowing they have their three programmatic
·3· ·environmental impact statements out as well.
·4· · · ·And so I just want to thank the staff of both
·5· ·agencies for at times what is an added bit of work to
·6· ·try and have that -- that integrated engagement and
·7· ·look forward to just seeing how that --- that
·8· ·ultimately plays out, including, you know, what I
·9· ·would call who are potential first movers that would
10· ·help us understand how did we do on the effectiveness
11· ·of the programmatics, which are a lot of work just to
12· ·bring forward.· So I want to thank everybody for that
13· ·as well, so...
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Yes.· Thank you.
15· · · ·We -- we do anticipate doing further outreach in
16· ·concert with the Department of Ecology once the final
17· ·programatic EIS is published, and we anticipate
18· ·continuing our engagement efforts with tribal
19· ·representatives as projects begin to use the
20· ·programatic EIS to make sure that it is being used in
21· ·a manner that is as designed.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Appreciate that.
23· ·And would encourage that for sure.
24· · · ·Okay.· Then we will move on to our Horse Heaven
25· ·Wind Farm project, which will have an update, but
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·1· ·first and soon we will be recessing to executive
·2· ·session, which I'll speak to in more detail in a
·3· ·moment.
·4· · · ·But, Ms. Hafkemeyer or Ms. Moon, are there any
·5· ·opening comments you wanted to make before we recess
·6· ·into executive session?
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· Not at this time,
·8· ·no.· Thank you.
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· I don't have any.· Thank
11· ·you.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· So just for
13· ·clarity of the public, there will be a further
14· ·project update upon our return to our public forum
15· ·here.· And for the record, at this time, the Council
16· ·will be recessing to executive session for 30
17· ·minutes -- it's now 2:05 -- as allowed in the Open
18· ·Public Meeting Act's provision on executive session
19· ·to discuss litigation to which the party -- agency is
20· ·a party with EFSEC's legal counsel.· This is
21· ·necessary to avoid disclosing attorney-client advice
22· ·and attorney work product pertaining to the decisions
23· ·before the Council that are subject to litigation.
24· · · ·The first part of this discussion will be about
25· ·the Horse Heaven project litigation, and the second
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·1· ·part pertains to recently filed petitions for
·2· ·judicial review of the Council's amendment to its
·3· ·delegation of authority policy for plans submitted
·4· ·under site certification agreements.
·5· · · ·Due to my original recusal from this project,
·6· ·Horse Heaven, and the partial connection of the
·7· ·delegation policy to Horse Heaven for which I've also
·8· ·recused myself out of an abundance of caution, I will
·9· ·not participate in the executive session discussion
10· ·except as an observer.· Any decisions of these issues
11· ·in general will be made in the Council's open public
12· ·meeting per statute.· There are no intended decisions
13· ·on any of these issues for today, just for
14· ·clarification as well.
15· · · ·So with that, we will recess into executive
16· ·session and will return at 2:40.· So the next public
17· ·meeting will not begin until at least 2:40.· So thank
18· ·you.
19· · · · · · · · · · · · · · (Pause in meeting
20· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·proceedings from 2:07 p.m.
21· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·to 2:41 p.m. for purposes
22· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·of executive session.)
23
24· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Good afternoon.
25· ·This is EFSEC Council Chair Beckett just noting we
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·1· ·are gathering back in here.· And I will note at 2:41,
·2· ·we have gavelled back into our regular public
·3· ·session.· I'll get my computer back open here as
·4· ·well.
·5· · · ·Do we have everyone online that we started with,
·6· ·Ms. Barker?
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Yes.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· So with
·9· ·that, let me return us to our Horse Heaven project
10· ·briefing.· And I believe Ms. Moon will kick us off in
11· ·the project update, and Ms. Hafkemeyer may well soon
12· ·join in along the way.· So I'll turn this over to
13· ·both of you.
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Thank you.
15· · · ·Good afternoon, Council Chair Beckett and EFSEC
16· ·Council members.· I, Amy Moon, am reporting on the
17· ·Horse Heaven wind project in Benton County.
18· · · ·At the August 20th Council meeting, Sean Greene,
19· ·the State Environmental Policy Act specialist,
20· ·provided a presentation and information on the
21· ·Pre-operational Technical Advisory Group, otherwise
22· ·known as the PTAG, P-T-A-G.· He advised -- he
23· ·provided information on the Species-5 recommendation.
24· · · ·As presented by Mr. Greene, Species-5 has
25· ·prescriptive mitigation requirements that do not
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·1· ·allow the siting of primary project components within
·2· ·0.6 miles of a documented ferruginous hawk nest and
·3· ·within two miles of a documented ferruginous hawk
·4· ·nest unless the nesting site is no longer available
·5· ·or the foraging habitat within two miles of the nest
·6· ·is no longer viable, with the exception of the east
·7· ·battery energy storage system, or BESS, B-E-S-S, that
·8· ·is specifically exempted.
·9· · · ·At the August Council meeting, Mr. Greene
10· ·presented the certificate holder's recommendation,
11· ·which included recommendations associated with six
12· ·nests of which the recommendations were not supported
13· ·unanimously by the PTAG.
14· · · ·The August 20th Council meeting closed with open
15· ·mitigation questions for the Council.· We are here
16· ·today to offer EFSEC staff recommendations regarding
17· ·Species-5 mitigation and to request the Council make
18· ·a determination on the Species-5 mitigation criteria
19· ·for the nest areas, including the group of 39 where
20· ·the PTAG reached consensus, and those where consensus
21· ·was not reached, which are represented by the letters
22· ·A, B, C, D, E, and F on the confidential figures that
23· ·you-all, Council, have.
24· · · ·So please refer to the confidential figures
25· ·provided in the Council SharePoint that's at your
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·1· ·disposal, and use these letters in your discussions.
·2· ·Staff also provided a summary document to the Council
·3· ·that may be useful for reference.
·4· · · ·Are there any questions on those provided
·5· ·documents?· Thank you.
·6· · · ·EFSEC staff recommend applying the buffer
·7· ·unanimously recommended by the PTAG for the 39 nests
·8· ·that are identified in the facilitator report and
·9· ·recommendation from the certificate holder.
10· · · ·Is there any discussion on that, or questions?
11· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· None at this time,
12· ·it appears.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· All right.· Thank you.
14· · · ·As the certificate holder is not proposing
15· ·primary infrastructure within the 0.6-, or one
16· ·kilometer, to two-mile buffer of Nest A, the Council
17· ·does not need to make a determination on this nest at
18· ·this time.
19· · · ·However, if the Council would like to make a
20· ·determination on this nest, staff recommend that
21· ·primary infrastructure be allowed within the 0.6- to
22· ·two-mile buffer.
23· · · ·Are there any discussion or questions on that?
24· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council Brewster.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· This is Stacey
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·1· ·Brewster.
·2· · · ·Is there a benefit to making a decision on that
·3· ·at this point?· If no determination is needed,
·4· ·perhaps it can be held off.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· Do you want to
·6· ·answer that?
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· Yeah.· Council
·8· ·Member Brewster, I -- yeah, as I see it, there's
·9· ·no -- because there's no micro-siting corridor for
10· ·turbines or any primary infrastructure that's
11· ·currently approved in that area, in the radius of
12· ·that, the certificate holder would need to come back
13· ·and amend the SCA to allow for that.· So it could
14· ·be -- this question would only really become relevant
15· ·if and when that were to occur.· So if you don't have
16· ·to make that decision, I would recommend that you not
17· ·make that decision.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· Thanks.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Any further questions on
20· ·that?· I'll move forward.
21· · · ·So staff recommend applying the two-mile buffer
22· ·for nests represented by letters B, C, D, E, and F.
23· ·And based on a Council discussion, staff will prepare
24· ·a draft resolution.· So once you guys have a
25· ·discussion and respond to us on your outcome of that
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·1· ·discussion, I can prepare a draft resolution to the
·2· ·Council.
·3· · · ·And so I want to leave it open right now for you
·4· ·to discuss the nests at B, C, D, E, and F and that
·5· ·recommendation to apply a two-mile buffer.
·6· · · ·Do you have any questions on that?
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· And the 39 nests
·8· ·in Nest A.
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Oh.· Yes.· And the 39
10· ·nests in Nest A -- or, I mean --
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Yeah.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· -- Circle A.· Yeah.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· We would request that
14· ·the Council make a determination on the application
15· ·of Species-5 for all 45 nests that are -- or sorry --
16· ·for 44 of the 45 nests that are subject to Species-5.
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. THOMPSON:· If I -- if I may
18· ·add, just to -- I don't think -- we're certainly not
19· ·looking for a final decision today.· We're -- I think
20· ·what staff's looking for is just, you know, if the
21· ·Council is comfortable with discussing initial
22· ·thoughts on this, just to get a sense of where the
23· ·opinion of the Council members are at this point,
24· ·that would help with drafting a decisional document
25· ·for a decision at a subsequent meeting.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Thank you.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Yes.· Thanks, Jon, for
·3· ·putting it so clearly.
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Other Council
·5· ·members?· Comments or feedback for the staff at this
·6· ·point?
·7· · · ·Council Member Pamplin.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.
·9· · · ·At this point, I'm very comfortable with the
10· ·resolution bringing forward to the Council as you've
11· ·described, Ms. Moon.· I just want to express my
12· ·appreciation to the PTAG members and the staff for --
13· ·it's clearly some tough discussions.· And appreciate
14· ·that you-all are framing this discussion and these
15· ·recommendations to the Council for us to make a
16· ·decision here in the next month, I believe.· So thank
17· ·you.
18· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Thank you.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Other comments from
20· ·Council members?
21· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· Stacey Brewster.  I
22· ·would echo that sentiment from Council Member
23· ·Pamplin.· I appreciate all of the work put in by
24· ·staff and members of the PTAG in considering all of
25· ·the information that need to be processed for that.
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·1· · · ·I -- the 39 nests is a easy decision.· Consensus
·2· ·was made.· It sounds like habitat and nest
·3· ·availability were identified.· I support that
·4· ·decision.
·5· · · ·As for the Nests B through F -- again, having
·6· ·read through all of the materials and appreciating
·7· ·the robust discussion and deliberation by the PTAG --
·8· ·I agree with the recommendation from staff to stick
·9· ·with the two-mile radius buffers on those nests.
10· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· All right.· Thank you,
11· ·both, Council Member Pamplin and Council Member
12· ·Brewster, and Jon, for supporting this
13· ·recommendation.
14· · · ·So based on Council discussion, staff --
15· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· I'm sorry,
16· ·Ms. Moon.· It looks like --
17· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· There might be
18· ·more Council members.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· -- Council Levitt
20· ·has his hand raised.· And I believe one other as
21· ·well.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LEVITT:· Yes.· I also want to
23· ·echo what the previous two Council members said.· I'm
24· ·supportive of the staff recommendation, and I deeply
25· ·appreciate all of the technical work that went into
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·1· ·both the PTAG and EFSEC staff coming to these
·2· ·conclusions.· So, yeah, just wanted to share my
·3· ·sentiment.· Thank you.
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Ms. Barker or
·5· ·Ms. Brewster, can you tell me whose hand is up.
·6· ·Because my screen is off.
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BARKER:· Yes.· It's Elizabeth
·8· ·Osborne.
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Ah.· Council
10· ·Osborne, please.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. OSBORNE:· Thank you, Mr. Chair.
12· · · ·I think everyone will sense a theme here.· I also
13· ·am in support of staff developing a resolution as
14· ·described, consistent with the staff recommendation,
15· ·and also would like to express my appreciation for
16· ·the work of staff and the PTAG to provide the Council
17· ·with the advice that they have.· I know it was a lot
18· ·of work, and I'm very appreciative of that effort.
19· ·So thank you.
20· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you.
21· · · ·Any other comments from Council members for the
22· ·Horse Heaven project?
23· · · ·Thank you for letting me "I spy" on your...
24· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· Yeah, sure.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· Are there
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·1· ·other comments from the staff or Council in response
·2· ·to what you've heard here from Council members for
·3· ·Horse Heaven?
·4· · · ·And, again, soon the last call on comments from
·5· ·the Horse Heaven Council members, in case anyone
·6· ·changes their mind in the next minute.· Staff first
·7· ·or Council, any closing comments or questions of
·8· ·Council's feedback?
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· I don't have any
10· ·questions.· I can summarize, though.· I can provide a
11· ·summary of what I heard Council...
12· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· I think generally
13· ·that's good practice from a procedural standpoint.
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Okay.· So based on the
15· ·Council discussion -- and I apologize for not seeing
16· ·that there were hands raised online -- that staff
17· ·will prepare a draft resolution stating that Council
18· ·will implement the 0.6-mile buffer for the 39 nests
19· ·on which the PTAG reached consensus.· And the Council
20· ·will implement the two-mile buffer for the following
21· ·nests:· Nests A, B, C -- I mean, I'm sorry.· Not A.
22· ·I'm sorry.· A is -- let me retract.
23· · · ·Staff will draft a resolution stating that the
24· ·Council will implement the 0.6-mile buffer for
25· ·Nest A.· And then the Council will implement a
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·1· ·two-mile buffer for Nests B, C, D, E, and F.· This
·2· ·draft resolution will be posted for public comment
·3· ·ahead of Council action at the next Council meeting.
·4· · · ·Sean.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· One point of
·6· ·clarification.· I believe the Council indicated that
·7· ·they will not be making a determination on --
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· A.
·9· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· They are not -- they
10· ·are following staff's recommendation to not suggest a
11· ·determination on Nest A.
12· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Yes.· Correct.
13· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Is that correct?
14· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Thank you, Sean.
15· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. GREENE:· Thank you.
16· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Thank you for tracking
17· ·that.
18· · · ·Anything else?
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Any further
20· ·restatements?· Since, understandably, we've had a
21· ·little, you know, churn in the restatements.· Did we
22· ·capture it all, Amy, from your standpoint?
23· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· I think we captured it
24· ·all, and it will be in our draft resolution to --
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· Yes.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· -- to you.· Yeah.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· So I think that
·3· ·spells out our next steps, is to draft this.· And we
·4· ·will, as Ms. Moon stated, provide this to Council and
·5· ·for public comment ahead of the October meeting.· And
·6· ·I believe we have additional update about a request
·7· ·from Scout with relation to the October meeting.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· Yeah.· Yeah.· Thank you,
·9· ·Ami Hafkemeyer.
10· · · ·Yeah, Scout submitted a letter to EFSEC,
11· ·requesting a special meeting to make -- to make this
12· ·decision as soon as possible.· This decision that
13· ·we've just been discussing.· But staff will need some
14· ·time to prepare that draft resolution and post for
15· ·comment.
16· · · ·So in looking at the Council's availability ahead
17· ·of the regularly scheduled October 15th meeting, it
18· ·may be difficult to gather a quorum of Council
19· ·members to vote.· So if the Council would like to and
20· ·are able to move existing commitments around, staff
21· ·can work to schedule something at the end of the week
22· ·prior to the regularly scheduled October Council
23· ·meeting.· So that would be, like, potentially a
24· ·meeting on October 9th or 10th, if the Council wants
25· ·to support that or wants to meet.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· Well,
·2· ·Council, any initial feedback?· I realize you may
·3· ·need to look at calendars or reflect on that rather
·4· ·than here in the public session.
·5· · · ·I would note that, either way, how that relates
·6· ·to public comment period should not be taken lightly,
·7· ·obviously.· So I would just observe procedurally,
·8· ·knowing what that comment plan would look like for an
·9· ·earlier date versus October 15th would be important
10· ·to do very quickly if not here today.
11· · · ·But more importantly, Council for the Horse
12· ·Heaven project, any further feedback to Amy Moon or
13· ·Ami Hafkemeyer's comments and questions?
14· · · ·Council Brewster.
15· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· I would say, if we
16· ·need the meeting prior to the October regularly
17· ·scheduled meeting, I would be able to make myself
18· ·available if needed.
19· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council Pamplin.
20· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. PAMPLIN:· Thanks.· Thanks,
21· ·Mr. Chair.
22· · · ·Yeah, I'm just -- completely understand the
23· ·project proponent's request for a special meeting.
24· ·You know, October 10th versus October 15th I just
25· ·don't think is, you know, in the scheme of timelines
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·1· ·here, the five days is necessary to schedule a
·2· ·special meeting.· I know my calendar is completely
·3· ·slammed.· And so I'd be asking, if we do something,
·4· ·it be an after-hours meeting.· And I'm fine with
·5· ·that.· And I'm sorry if that's an inconvenience for
·6· ·others.· But 5:00 meetings are great for me.· My
·7· ·schedule's usually pretty open.
·8· · · ·But having said that, this is also an opportunity
·9· ·for the public comment.· So rather than having an
10· ·additional public comment period outside of another
11· ·timeline, I just -- I don't know if the juice is
12· ·worth the squeeze there.· So unless there's just a
13· ·complete traffic jam on your agenda for October at
14· ·the regularly scheduled meeting, I suggest we just
15· ·have this decision come forward at the regular
16· ·October meeting.· Thanks.
17· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you, Council.
18· · · ·Are there other online Council members who wish
19· ·to comment?
20· · · ·Thank you, Council Brewster.· Technical issue
21· ·here on my computer, it looks like.
22· · · ·Seeing none.· Okay.
23· · · ·I think that concludes feedback to the staff on
24· ·Horse Heaven.
25· · · ·Any other comments or questions of staff to the
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·1· ·Council for Horse Heaven?
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. MOON:· I don't have anything
·3· ·further.
·4· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Okay.· Then we will
·5· ·conclude the Horse Heaven project discussion.
·6· · · ·And before we adjourn, I had one update from a
·7· ·Council membership standpoint that I wanted to turn
·8· ·this to Council Levitt from the Department of Ecology
·9· ·to share a few updates on his membership of the
10· ·Council.· So Council Levitt.
11· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LEVITT:· Thank you, Chair.
12· · · ·Yeah, this is Eli Levitt, Ecology's current
13· ·Council member.· As of October 1st, Ecology has put
14· ·forth a recommendation for a new Council member.
15· ·That will be Blake Nelson.· He's a section manager in
16· ·Ecology's solid waste management program.
17· · · ·I just want to take a moment to say thank you for
18· ·the honor and privilege for serving as a Council
19· ·member.· I appreciate the work of the Council, Chair
20· ·Beckett, Chair Drew in the past, and others who have
21· ·helped me through this process of being a Council
22· ·member.· You know, I do really think the role that we
23· ·serve is an important role, bringing our agency
24· ·expertise and knowledge and trying to apply it to all
25· ·of these proposals as well as current projects.

Page 51
·1· · · ·I'm hopeful that the Council will continue with
·2· ·EFSEC staff to look at the public comment process and
·3· ·making sure that people feel both heard and seen
·4· ·through that public comment process, whether it's
·5· ·meetings in person or written public comment.· So
·6· ·we've been looking at that lately, and I do think
·7· ·some of the improvements we're putting on paper
·8· ·should be quite helpful.
·9· · · ·I do also want to briefly advocate that I hope
10· ·the Council and EFSEC staff continue to do site
11· ·visits and get out regularly to those places where
12· ·projects are proposed or even ongoing.· I think it's
13· ·an excellent way to make sure we're understanding
14· ·everything about our project as well as getting to
15· ·know community members and leaders and those who are
16· ·interested and/or concerned in projects.
17· · · ·You know, this site visit tradition, it goes back
18· ·a long time.· When I first started at Ecology, Hedia
19· ·Adelsman, once a Council member for Ecology, mentored
20· ·me briefly.· And, you know, I remember her coming
21· ·back with just the stories of riding in vans and
22· ·minivans, buses, to go to various places in the state
23· ·and meet with people one-on-one.· And that's a really
24· ·important part of our process, getting to know people
25· ·in the communities.
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·1· · · ·So, again, thank you for the privilege of serving
·2· ·on the Council, and I wish -- I wish everyone the
·3· ·best of luck as we continue this process moving
·4· ·forward.
·5· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Council Levitt,
·6· ·thank you very much for your service as well as the
·7· ·update and update on Blake Nelson beginning to serve
·8· ·on October 1st on the EFSEC Council as part of -- as
·9· ·the Department of Ecology's representative.
10· · · ·And I personally want to thank you for your time
11· ·and helping me onboard as the new chair as well as
12· ·your time and service, especially on things like
13· ·Horse Heaven, given the discussion today.· So that
14· ·amongst many projects.· So it's been a pleasure, and
15· ·we thank you.
16· · · ·If there are other Council comments to add to
17· ·mine, I'll certainly open that up for any further
18· ·comment.
19· · · ·And I should note, Eli, that we will -- Council
20· ·Member Levitt, that we ask that you agree to return
21· ·for a proper thank-you at a brief future cameo
22· ·appearance at one of our regular meetings.
23· · · ·Sorry, Council Brewster.
24· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LEVITT:· Sounds good.
25· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· This is --
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LEVITT:· Thank you.
·2· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. BREWSTER:· -- Stacey Brewster.
·3· ·Council Levitt, it has been a pleasure serving with
·4· ·you.· I've appreciated your time on the Council.· And
·5· ·I'm sorry to see you go, but I'll look forward to
·6· ·meeting your replacement.
·7· · · · · · · · · · ·MR. LEVITT:· Thank you.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· Thank you.
·9· · · ·Just looking for other hands.· And I finally see
10· ·another screen I should have been looking at earlier.
11· · · ·All right.· Well, with that, again, thank you,
12· ·Council Levitt.· And we wish you well in your
13· ·continued juggling of many issues, which we know is
14· ·certainly part of your consideration here.· So we
15· ·will miss you, as was said.
16· · · ·Are there any other closing Council comments
17· ·before we adjourn?
18· · · ·All right.· Seeing none.
19· · · ·Ms. Hafkemeyer, any closing comments on behalf of
20· ·the staff?· And it's okay if not, but thought I would
21· ·ask.
22· · · · · · · · · · ·MS. HAFKEMEYER:· I don't have
23· ·anything further.· Thank you.
24· · · · · · · · · · ·CHAIR BECKETT:· All right.
25· ·Excellent.· Well, then we are adjourned.· Thank you,



Page 54

·1· ·everyone, for your time and participation today.· It
·2· ·is 3:02 p.m., and we are now officially adjourned.
·3· · · · · · · · · · · · · · (Meeting adjourned at
·4· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·3:02 p.m.)
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·1· ·STATE OF WASHINGTON )· · ·I, John M.S. Botelho, CCR, RPR,
· · · · · · · · · · · · ·) ss· a certified court reporter
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· · · · · That the foregoing Monthly Meeting of the Washington
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· · ·transcript is a full, true and complete transcript of the
·7· ·said meeting, transcribed to the best of my ability;
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EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting – Facility Update Format 

Facility Name: Kittitas Valley Wind Power Project 
Operator: EDP Renewables 
Report Date: October 06, 2025 
Reporting Period: September 2025 
Site Contact: Jarred Caseday, Operations Manager 
Facility SCA Status: Operational 

Operations & Maintenance (only applicable for operating facilities) 
- Power generated: 24,421.42 MWH.
- Wind speed: 6.64 m/s. 
- Capacity Factor: 31.92 %. 

Environmental Compliance 
- No incidents

Safety Compliance 
- Nothing to report

Current or Upcoming Projects 
- Nothing to report

Other 
- No sound complaints
- No shadow flicker complaints



EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting – Facility Update 

Facility Name:  Wild Horse Wind Facility 
Operator:    Puget Sound Energy 
Report Date:   October 6, 2025 
Report Period: September 2025 
Site Contact:   Jennifer Galbraith 
SCA Status:  Operational 

Operations & Maintenance 
September generation totaled 28,027 MWh for an average capacity factor of 14.28%. 

Environmental Compliance 
Nothing to report. 

Safety Compliance 
Nothing to report. 

Current or Upcoming Projects 
Nothing to report. 

Other – Turbine Damage Update 
As of October 6, 2025 there has been no change to the damaged wind turbine tower initially reported to the 
Council on July 14, 2025.  We continue to monitor the turbine 24/7 and are assessing options to safely 
decommission the tower after the wildfire season ends.  Emergency responders remain on stand-by in the 
event of tower failure and the site will remain closed to public access for the remainder of 2025. 



Chehalis Generation Facility Page 1 

Chehalis Generation Facility 
1813 Bishop Road 
Chehalis, Washington 98532 

EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting – Facility Update  

Facility Name:  Chehalis Generation Facility 
Operator:  PacifiCorp 
Report Date:  October 9, 2025 
Reporting Period:  September 2025 
Site Contact:  Jeremy Smith, Operations Manager 
Facility SCA Status:  Operational 

Operations & Maintenance 
-Relevant energy generation information, such as wind speed, number of windy or sunny days, gas line supply
updates, etc.

• 220,160 net MWhrs generated in the reporting period for a capacity factor of 63.92%

The following information must be reported to the Council if applicable to the facility: 

Environmental Compliance 
-Monthly Water Usage: 2,373,404 gallons

• No changes
-Monthly Wastewater Returned: 1,055,480 gallons
-Permit status if any changes.

• No changes.
-Update on progress or completion of any mitigation measures identified.

• Nothing to report
-Any EFSEC-related inspections that occurred.

• Nothing to report.
-Any EFSEC-related complaints or violations that occurred.

• Nothing to report
-Brief list of reports submitted to EFSEC during the monthly reporting period.

• Nothing to report

Safety Compliance 
-Safety training or improvements that relate to SCA conditions.

• Zero injuries this reporting period for a total of 3,714 days without a Lost Time Accident.



Chehalis Generation Facility Page 2 

Chehalis Generation Facility 
1813 Bishop Road 
Chehalis, Washington 98532 

Current or Upcoming Projects 
-Planned site improvements.

• No planned changes.
-Upcoming permit renewals.

• Nothing to report.
-Additional mitigation improvements or milestones.

• Nothing to report.

Other 
-Current events of note (e.g., Covid response updates, seasonal concerns due to inclement weather, etc.).

• Nothing to report.
-Personnel changes as they may relate to EFSEC facility contacts (e.g., introducing a new staff member who
may provide facility updates to the Council).

• Nothing to report.
-Public outreach of interest (e.g., schools, public, facility outreach).

• Nothing to report.

Respectfully, 

Jeremy Smith 
Gas Plant Operations Manager 
Chehalis Generation Facility  



GRAYS HARBOR ENERGY LLC 

GHEC • 401 Keys Road, Elma, WA 98541 • 360.482.4353 

EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting – Facility Update 

Facility Name: Grays Harbor Energy Center 
Operator: Grays Harbor Energy LLC 
Report Date: Oct 15, 2025 
Reporting Period: September 2025 
Site Contact: Eric Pace 
Facility SCA Status: Operational 

Operations & Maintenance 
-GHEC generated 447,546 MWh during the month and 2,936,988 MWh YTD.

The following information must be reported to the Council if applicable to the facility: 

Environmental Compliance 
-There weren’t any outfall or storm water deviations during the month.
-Routine monthly, quarterly, and annual reporting submissions to EFSEC Staff.

o Monthly Discharge Monitor Report (DMR).
-Relative Accuracy Test Audit (RATA) Complete

Safety Compliance 
- None.

Current or Upcoming Projects 
- Submitted the application to renew the Air Operating Permit (AOP) for Grays Harbor Energy
Center (GHEC) that is currently authorized to operate under PSD Permit EFSEC/2001-01,
Amendment 5 and Federal Operating Permit EFSEC/94-1 AOP Modification 1.
-Submitted the Acid Rain Permit Application for permit renewal in accordance with Permit
Requirements 1(i) of Acid Rain Permit No. EFSEC/10-01-AR.
-NPDES permit renewal application submitted to EFSEC in December 2023 in accordance with
Section S6.A of NPDES Permit No. WA0024961.

Other 
-None.
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EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting Facility Update 

Facility Name: Columbia Solar Projects (Penstemon, Camas and Urtica) 
Operator: Tuusso Energy, LLC 
Report Date: August 7, 2025 
Reporting Period: 31 Days ending August 31, 2025 
Site Contact: Liz Drachenberg & Brendan Clemente 
Facility SCA Status: Operation 

Construction Status 
• Penstemon

o Currently operational
o Total Generation during the month was 1,261 Megawatt hours

• Camas
o Currently operational
o Total Generation during the month was 1,306 Megawatt hours

• Urtica
o Currently operational
o Total Generation during the month was 1,384 Megawatt hours
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EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting 

Facility Name: Columbia Generating Station and Washington Nuclear Project 1 and 4 (WNP-1/4) 
Operator: Energy Northwest 
Report Date: October 6, 2025 
Reporting Period: September 2025 
Site Contact: Kelly Elsethagen 
Facility SCA Status: Operational 

CGS Net Electrical Generation for September 2025:  819,547.15 Mega Watt-Hours. 

The following information must be reported to the Council if applicable to the facility: 

Environmental Compliance: 
No update. 

Safety Compliance 
No update. 

Current or Upcoming Projects 
No update. 

Other 
No update. 
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Facility Name: Goose Prairie Solar 
Operator: Brookfield Power US Asset Management 
Report Date: 10/2/2025 
Reporting Period: 9/1/2025 to 9/30/2025 
Asset Manager: Nelson Jia 
Facility SCA Status: Operational 

Construction Status 

• N/A

Operations & Maintenance 

• Total generation for the month of September-2025 was approximately 16,719 MWh

• No major outages to report

The following information must be reported to the Council if applicable to the facility: 

Environmental Compliance 
Permit status if any changes. 

• None

Update on progress or completion of any mitigation measures identified. 

• No Discharge on the site reported

Any EFSEC-related inspections that occurred.

• None

Any EFSEC-related complaints or violations that occurred.

• None

Brief list of reports submitted to EFSEC during the monthly reporting period.

• None

Safety Compliance 

• There were no non-routine events to report during this period.

Current or Upcoming Projects 

• None

Other 
Current events of note (e.g., Covid response updates, seasonal concerns due to inclement weather, etc.). 

• None

Personnel changes as they may relate to EFSEC facility contacts (e.g., introducing a new staff member who 
may provide facility updates to the Council). 

• None

Public outreach of interest (e.g., schools, public, facility outreach). 

• None
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EFSEC Monthly Council Meeting – Facility Update 

Facility Name: Ostrea Solar 

Operator: Cypress Creek Renewables 

Report Date: 10/6/2025 

Reporting Period: 9/1/2025-9/30/2025 

Site Contact: Fred Hageman 

Facility SCA Status: Construction 

Construction Status (only applicable for projects under construction) 

• Pile and tracking installation fully completed.

• Module installation is in full swing with the East parcel complete and the West Parcel nearing

completion.

• Module wiring and DC cable installation is complete in the East parcel, with the West parcel work

currently ongoing.

• AC and DC terminations are complete in the East Parcel with the West Parcel underway.

• Substation major equipment fully delivered and installation is underway.

Operations & Maintenance (only applicable for operating facilities) 

• Not yet operational.

The following information must be reported to the Council if applicable to the facility: 

Environmental Compliance 

-Permit status if any changes.

• N/A

-Update on progress or completion of any mitigation measures identified.

• BMP installations per Exhibits continue.

-Any EFSEC-related inspections that occurred.

• Site inspections performed on a weekly basis without any non-compliant elements being discovered.

-Any EFSEC-related complaints or violations that occurred.

• Nothing in the month of September.

-Brief list of reports submitted to EFSEC during the monthly reporting period.

• Nothing in the month of September.

Safety Compliance 

• Safety training or improvements that relate to SCA conditions.

• On September 12, a cement truck entered the project site with a leak in the hydraulic hose.

Approximately 1.75 gallons of oil was spilled along the path from the entrance to the project

substation parking area. The spill was identified immediately and oil catch pans were placed under the

truck to catch the excess oil. The contaminated gravel was loaded into a gravel truck supplied by the

company Premix Cement. Mechanics were called in and replaced the faulty hose. When the truck was
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moved, the rest of the oil contaminated gravel was loaded into the dump truck provided by the 

cement company and hauled offsite. 

Current or Upcoming Projects 

-Planned site improvements

• Current:

o Module installation

o DC cable installation

o Met tower installation.

o Substation control house terminations

o O&M shop delivery

• Upcoming Projects

o O&M shop building construction

o Module installation completion

-Upcoming permit renewals.

• None.

-Additional mitigation improvements or milestones.

• West property Basin and Swells.

Other 

-Current events of note.

• N/A

-Personnel changes as they may relate to EFSEC facility contacts:

• None.

-Public outreach of interest

• None.



Carriger Solar Project 

General Description: 

Location: 

Applicant: 

A proposed 160 megawatts (MW) solar photovoltaic (PV) electric generating facility. 
Includes a proposed 63 MW of battery energy storage system (BESS). Project area: 
2,108- acres of privately owned land.  

Unincorporated Klickitat County. Approximately 2 miles west of Goldendale. 

Carriger Solar, LLC. 

Milestone Dates: • February 10, 2023, Original ASC Submitted
• September 25, 2023, Council issues Order No. 889 Granting a Finding of Land Use

Consistency.
• April 7, 2025, SEPA Mitigated Determination of Non-Significance published.
• May 5, 2025, Council granted Expedited Process.
• June 25, 2025, Recommendation to the Governor submitted.

Status: Location Map:  
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Hop Hill Solar Energy Project 

General Description: 

Location: 

Applicant: 

HOHI bn, LLC (Applicant), a subsidiary of BNC DEVCO, LLC, which is a joint venture 
between BrightNight, LLC and Cordelio Power. Hop Hill Solar project is an up to 500-
megawatt2 (MW) solar photovoltaic (PV) generation facility coupled with an up to 500-
MW battery energy storage system (BESS). The Solar Array Siting Area encompasses 
approximately 11,179 buildable acres and the overhead 230-kV gen-tie line will be 
developed within a 150-foot-wide corridor and microsited within the approximately 
10,841-acre Transmission Line Corridor Siting Area). The final solar array area 
anticipated to be approximately 6,000 acres.   

Benton County, Washington. 

BrightNight, LLC. 

Milestone Dates: • December 22. 2022, Original ASC Submitted
• February 23, 2023, Public Comment Hearing, Land Use Consistency Hearing
• November 3, 2023, Brightnight requests application review extension (original

date:12/22/23 to 12/22/24)
• November 15, 2023, Order finding Project Inconsistent with Land Use (Benton County)

Regulations, setting the matter for adjudication.

Status: Location Map:  
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Wallula Gap Solar Energy Project 

General Description: Wallula Gap Solar, a 60-megawatt (MW) solar photovoltaic (PV) project with an optional 
battery energy storage system (BESS). The Facility would be located across a portion 
(approximately 437 acres) of three parcels. The optional BESS would not exceed the 
nominal 60-MW capacity of the Facility. Facility would interconnect through a line tap to 
Benton Public Utility District’s (PUD) 115-kV line near the Prior #2 substation. The 
generation would then be connected to the Bonneville Power Administration’s (BPA) 
facilities at the Plymouth tap (aka Paterson Tap), where Benton PUD and BPA facilities 
connect at BPA’s McNary substation. 

Location: Unincorporated community of Plymouth, Benton County, Washington. 

Applicant: OneEnergy Development LLC 

Milestone Dates: • February 23, 2024, Original ASC Submitted
• April 23, 2024, Public Comment Hearing, Land Use Consistency Hearing

Status: Location Map: 
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Goldeneye Battery Storage Project 

General Description: 

Location: 

Applicant: 

A 200- megawatt (MW)/800-megawatt hour (MWh) battery energy storage system 
(BESS) project. The Project will not generate electricity, but instead provide a buffer for 
Skagit County’s (County) electrical grid. The Project will accomplish this by receiving 
energy (charging)from the Puget Sound Energy (PSE) electric transmission system, 
storing energy on site, and then later delivering energy (discharging) back to the point of 
interconnection Project area: approximately 16 acres, privately owned land.  

Unincorporated Skagit County, Washington. 

Goldeneye Battery Storage, LLC

Milestone Dates: • June 27, 2024, Original ASC Submitted
• August 13, 2024, Public Information Meeting and Land Use Consistency Hearing

Status: Location Map:  
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Transmission Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement 

General Description: A Programmatic EIS to assess probable significant adverse environmental impacts from 
electrical transmission facilities with a nominal voltage of 230 kilovolts (kV) or greater at 
a broad level and identify avoidance, minimization, and other mitigation measures. 
EFSEC was directed to conduct this nonproject environmental review under RCW 
Chapter 43.21C.405. 

Location: Statewide 

Originating Legislation: Senate Bill 5165, Chapter 229, Laws of 2023 

Milestone Dates: • July 23, 2023, Effective Date of Originating Legislation
• June 28, 2024, EIS Scoping Memo Issued
• March 31, 2025, Draft EIS Issued
• April 8, 2025, Public Informational Meeting
• April 22 & 24, 2025, Public Comment Hearings
• May 15, 2025, End of Draft EIS Public Comment Period
• Late September, 2025, Anticipated Final EIS Issuance

Status: Location Map: 

The Programmatic 
EIS is at this phase. 
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STATE ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT

Programmatic 
Environmental  
Impact Statement
High-Voltage Transmission 
Facilities in Washington

Olympia, Washington
OCTOBER 2025



Horse Heaven Wind Project 

General Description: Proposed construction of a renewable energy facility that would have a nameplate energy 
generating capacity of up to 1,150 megawatts (MWs) for a combination of wind and solar 
facilities as well as battery energy storage systems (BESS). Meteorological Towers 
(MET), overhead transmission lines, and Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Facilities 
are also proposed. 

Project area: 72,428 acres, privately owned land in which five DNR parcels are located 
within. 

Location: Unincorporated Central Benton County south of the Tri-Cities. 

Applicant: Horse Heaven Wind Farm, LLC. 

Milestone Dates: • February 8, 2021, Original ASC Submitted
• May 17, 2022, Council issues Order No. 883 of Land Use Consistency – Finding

Proposed Site Consistent with Land Use Regulations.
• October 31, 2023, Final Environmental Impact Statement Issued.
• April 17, 2024, Adjudicative Order Resolving Contested Issues.
• April 29, 2024, Recommendation to the Governor Submitted.
• May 25, 2024, Governor Remanded the Council’s Recommendation.
• September 17, 2024, Final Recommendation to the Governor Submitted.
• October 18, 2024, Received Signed SCA and Final Decision from the Governor.
• November 21, 2024, Applicant Signed the SCA.

Status: Location Map:  
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WASHINGTON STATE 
ENERGY FACILITY SITE EVALUATION COUNCIL 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 357 

 
HORSE HEAVEN WIND FARM 

SITE CERTIFICATION AGREEMENT 
IMPLEMENTATION 

 
Partly Approving and Partly Denying Proposal to Construct Primary Infrastructure 

within Two Miles of Documented Ferruginous Hawk Nests 

I. Nature of Action 

This Resolution details the Council’s DATE decision on Certificate Holder Horse 
Heaven Wind Farm, LLC’s request for approval to site primary project components 
within two miles of 43 documented ferruginous hawk nest locations, as provided for 
in the Horse Heaven Wind Farm site certification agreement, Appendix 2, Mitigation 
Measure Special Status Species (Spec) Ferruginous Hawk (Spec-5).  
 

II. Background 

On October 18, 2024, Governor Inslee approved the application of Horse Heaven 
Wind Farm LLC to construct and operate the Horse Heaven Wind Farm Project 
(Project) in Benton County and executed the site certification agreement (SCA).  

The SCA authorizes the Certificate Holder to site wind turbines, solar arrays, battery 
energy storage systems, and other infrastructure within areas depicted on maps in 
the final application. However, the SCA imposes “buffers” that prohibit the Certificate 
Holder from placing infrastructure in certain of these otherwise authorized areas. 
For instance, half mile buffers are imposed around nonparticipating residences, 
quarter mile buffers are imposed around recent wildfire locations, a buffer is 
imposed on Webber Canyon extending out one-mile from the top of its walls for the 
protection of traditional cultural places, and 0.6-mile buffers are imposed around 
any current or previously document ferruginous hawk nest locations distributed 
near and throughout the project.  

In addition, the SCA requires additional buffers extending from 0.6 to two miles 
radius around the same ferruginous hawk nest locations unless the Certificate 
Holder, with input from a pre-operational technical advisory group (PTAG), can show 
the nest locations are unlikely to be viable for the hawks. The Council’s 
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determination of the final boundary within which wind turbines, solar arrays and 
battery energy storage systems may be placed depends on whether the Certificate 
Holder can make the requisite showings to avoid any of the conditional 0.6-to-2-
mile buffers. 

Following the execution of the SCA, the Certificate Holder convened a PTAG, worked 
with the PTAG to develop parameters and documentation for evaluating the viability 
of habitat surrounding the nest locations, and has now presented its request for the 
Council’s approval to site primary infrastructure within the 0.6-to-2-mile buffers 
surrounding 44 of the 45 historically documented ferruginous hawk nests located in 
or near the Project lease boundary. 

This Resolution sets forth the Council’s decision approving the Certificate Holder’s 
request as to 39 specific nest locations and denying the request as to four nest 
locations. The Council declines to decide the Certificate Holder’s request as to one of 
the nests, because no primary infrastructure is currently authorized within its two-
mile radius.  

III. Procedural Status 

The question before the Council is whether to approve the Certificate Holder’s 
request to construct primary infrastructure within 0.6 to two miles of 43 of the 44 
documented ferruginous hawk nest sites within the lease boundary. 

If the Council approves the Certificate Holder’s request as to any of the historical 
nest locations, the Certificate Holder will need to develop a Project-specific 
ferruginous hawk mitigation and management plan, in consultation with the PTAG, 
for approval by the EFSEC Director. 

IV. Discussion 
 

A. The Certificate Holder has met the process and documentation 
requirements for a request to site primary components within two miles of 
historic nest locations. 

This section explains the Council’s determination that the Certificate Holder has met 
the process and documentation requirements for requesting approval to site 
primary project components within two miles of historic ferruginous hawk nests. 

1. The Certificate Holder’s Request in the Context of Special Status Species 
mitigation measure number five (Spec-5)  
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The SCA’s Special Status Species mitigation measure number five (Spec-5) prohibits 
the siting of turbines, solar arrays and BESSs within one kilometer (0.6 mile) of each 
location where ferruginous hawks have been reported to have nested at any time 
over the past several decades since record-keeping began in 1978.1 

Spec-5 also conditionally requires a further buffer out to two miles from these same 
historic nest locations (that is, between the 0.6 mile mandatory buffer and a further 
two mile radius from the nest location) unless the Certificate Holder can 
demonstrate that either: (a) the nesting site, meaning the tree or cliff face that the 
nest was built on, is no longer available or (b) the foraging habitat within the two-
mile buffer around that nest is no longer viable to support the species.2 

The SCA requires the Certificate Holder to convene a PTAG to review and provide 
technical input on plans required under the SCA’s mitigation measures for wildlife 
and habitat impacts.3 

If the Certificate Holder proposes placing wind turbines, solar arrays or battery 
energy storage systems (BESS) (collectively “primary components”) within a 0.6-2-
mile radius of a nest, it must develop certain information in consultation with the 
PTAG, and the proposal must be reviewed by the PTAG and approved by EFSEC.4 The 
PTAG’s role is to provide technical input and advice for Certificate Holder and 
EFSEC’s consideration.5  

Spec-5 requires EFSEC approval of two different Certificate Holder submittals. 

The first submittal is a request to site primary components within two miles of 
documented nests, based on a determination that at least one of the criteria is met 
for each nest.  

The second submittal, which can be submitted after EFSEC decides the first, is the 
ferruginous hawk mitigation and management plan that is required if EFSEC 
determines components may be placed within 0.6 to two miles of a nest. EFSEC’s 
review is to determine whether the plan includes adequate: (a) measures, such as 
curtailment of turbine operation when a nearby nest is occupied, to reduce the risk 
of turbine blades striking hawks, (b) plans to create new habitat to offset habitat 
losses within the two-mile radius, (c) measures for avoiding construction during 

 
1 SCA, Appendix 2, p. 12. 
2 Id.  
3 SCA, Art. IV.G, Appendix 2, pp. 8-9. 
4 SCA, Appendix 2, pp. 12-13.  
5 SCA, Art. IV.G. 
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sensitive times for the hawk, (d) provision for habitat and hawk use monitoring, and 
(c) plans for restoring habitat at decommissioning.6 

At this time, the Certificate Holder is only seeking EFSEC’s approval as to the first of 
these two Spec-5 submittals—whether primary infrastructure may be sited within 
two miles of 43 specified nests.  

2. The PTAG process for evaluating the need for 0.6-to-two-mile 
ferruginous hawk nest buffers  

To show that foraging habitat is no longer viable for the species within the two-mile 
radius, Spec-5 states that the Certificate Holder must develop, in consultation with 
the PTAG:  

1. A set of habitat parameters to document whether habitat in a core range is 
considered non-viable. The results of habitat surveys and their relation to 
these habitat parameters shall be reviewed by the PTAG and approved by 
EFSEC.  

2. A description of the current viable nesting habitat, available nesting sites, 
and a description of documented use of the core habitat by ferruginous hawk 
available through historic background information or field-based surveys.  

3. A description of the type and location of infrastructure proposed within the 
core habitat.  

4. The proximity of infrastructure to any known nest site or suitable foraging 
habitat. 

With the EFSEC Director’s approval, the Certificate Holder developed rules of 
procedure for the PTAG and a list of invitees representing various entities or 
individuals with pertinent expertise. Consistent with SCA Article IV.G, the PTAG 
consists of representatives from Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 
(WDFW), Washington Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Yakama Nation, 
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, Benton County, United 
States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), two independent ecologists, Lower 
Columbia Basin Audubon Society, a local labor union representative, the Certificate 
Holder, the consultant for the Certificate Holder, and a participating landowner.7  

 
6 SCA, Appendix 2, p. 13. 
7 Horse Heaven Wind Farm Pre-Operational Technical Advisory Group Rules of Procedure, 
Attachment B, PTAG Participants; PTAG Facilitator Report: Spec-5, Attachment 3, PTAG Member and 
Alternate Bios. 
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The PTAG convened ten times between February 28, 2025 and July 25, 2025.8 These 
ten PTAG meetings discussed the availability of historic ferruginous hawk nest 
locations, assessed the viability of foraging habitat within the range of those nesting 
sites, and discussed the siting of primary project components within two miles of 
ferruginous hawk nests under the limitations and requirements of Spec-5.9 

During this period, these meetings primarily focused on analyzing ferruginous hawk 
nest and habitat mapping data, developing standardized tools to make 
determinations on nesting site availability and foraging habitat viability, and 
developing recommendations on the application of Spec-5 to provide to EFSEC.  

The PTAG meetings and discussions resulted in the following documents for the 
Council’s consideration: 

1) The presentations that were shown at the various PTAG meetings and the 
minutes of those meetings.  

2) The Facilitator Report from the independent facilitator who organized the 
PTAG meetings. This Facilitator provided this report in draft form to the PTAG 
members for reviews and edits prior to finalization. The Report states that it is 
intended to provide an objective summary of the deliberations, findings, and 
recommendations of the PTAG. The Report reflects where the PTAG 
membership reached a consensus view and where there were differences of 
opinion among the members. The Report explains the areas of disagreement 
and references the PTAG meeting minutes (also included in the record) where 
appropriate so that the Council members could see the discussions verbatim.  

All of the members of the PTAG concurred in a recommendation that, consistent 
with the criteria set forth by the Council in Spec-5, primary infrastructure can be 
built between 0.6 and two miles of 39 of the 44 historic nest locations that the PTAG 
evaluated. 

A majority of the PTAG members recommended that a 0.6-to-two-mile buffer 
should be required around one nest that was occupied by a pair of ferruginous 
hawks and their fledglings this past spring. The certification holder is not requesting 
approval to site primary components within two miles of that nest. 

Several of the PTAG members, notably those from state and federal agencies and 
Yakama Nation, also recommended against allowing primary infrastructure within 

 
8 Horse Heaven PTAG Meeting Minutes, PTAG 2025 Meeting dates: Feb. 28; March 13 & 21; April 4 &18; 
May 2, 16, 23 & 30; July 25. 
9 Id. 
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the 0.6-to-two-miles surrounding the remaining four nests, which are located near 
the nest that was occupied this past spring. The Certificate Holder nonetheless 
requests approval to site primary infrastructure within two miles of these nest 
locations.  

As a threshold matter, we are satisfied that the Certificate Holder’s coordination with 
the PTAG met the four process documentation requirements described above.  

The PTAG Facilitator Report10 describes how the Certificate Holder developed, in 
cooperation with the PTAG, “a set of habitat parameters to document whether 
habitat in a core range is considered non-viable”: 

In order to systematically assess each nest in a similar fashion, the 
PTAG used the Nest Assessment Sheet shown in Table 2. The 
considerations included in the sheet were not meant to be definitive or 
disqualifying in terms of the availability of a nest site or viability of 
habitat in a core area, but rather an intent to evaluate each nest in a 
similar fashion, asking the same questions, and examining consistent 
data. . . . There is not one sheet for each nest. Some nests are so close in 
proximity that the outcomes of the assessment are the same. In those 
instances, multiple nests may have been included on one Nest 
Assessment Sheet. The PTAG did consider whether ferruginous hawks 
are likely to use the nest locations in the future, based on changes in 
land use or proximity to human settlement and activity in the core area, 
since the last time the nest was documented as active. Table 2 shows 
the Nest Site Assessment Sheet and several of the considerations were 
aimed at documenting these factors. 

. . . 

The Certificate Holder provided the first draft of the Nest Assessment 
Sheet to the PTAG, in the form of a flow chart. The PTAG tested the flow 
chart using actual ferruginous hawk nests and offered 
recommendations for how to modify it. Ultimately it was determined 
that a Nest Assessment Sheet would work better than a flow chart and 
“considerations” were more appropriate than “criteria” when 
determining what the PTAG would recommend regarding primary 
Project infrastructure around each nest. Once the PTAG agreed on the 
Nest Assessment considerations, four meetings were spent reviewing 

 
10 Pp. 6-7 and 9. 
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the draft assessment sheets for each nest, reviewing on-screen air 
photos, habitat data, land uses, and past nesting activity to inform 
whether the PTAG felt that placing new Project-related primary 
infrastructure between 0.6 – 2.0 miles of a nest would further reduce 
the likelihood that it would be used by ferruginous hawks in the future.  

We find that the “considerations” listed on the Nest Assessment Sheets11 present an 
adequate set of habitat “parameters” (in the sense of “a set of physical properties 
whose values determine the characteristics or behavior of something”12) for 
evaluating whether habitat in the core ranges surrounding each nest is considered 
non-viable. 

We also are convinced that information developed by the Certificate Holder and the 
PTAG members to complete the Nest Assessment Sheets resulted in a sufficiently 
robust “description of the current viable nesting habitat, available nesting sites, and 
a description of documented use of the core habitat by ferruginous hawk available 
through historic background information or field-based surveys.” As summarized in 
the PTAG Facilitator Report:13 

The Nest Assessment Worksheets, Section 4.3 of this report, includes a 
summary of the vegetation types and land uses within the 2.0-mile core 
area for each nest or group of nests. Due to the size of the core areas 
and the locations of the nest sites, large portions of the core areas are 
located outside of the Project Boundary and beyond the Certificate 
Holder’s site control, so no additional field surveys were conducted 
during the PTAG nest assessment process. The PTAG conducted an in-
person site visit to the Project area including many of the areas 
surrounding the nests. In addition, the PTAG examined air photos, in 
Google Earth, including historical air photos going back to 1996, to 
assess changes in land use that could influence habitat viability or 
habitat quality over time. The PTAG membership includes local tribes, 
local area residents and agency staff who were also able to share 
current information about land use and development changes. This 
information was summarized in the Nest Assessment Sheet for each 
nest or group of nests. The nest assessments also focused on specific or 
discrete land uses or activities that could influence the likelihood of 

 
11 The recommendations that resulted from those discussions are summarized in Facilitator Report 
Section 6.0; the Assessment Sheets are Attachment 2 to the Facilitator Report. 
12Merriam-Webster.com “parameter” definition 2. 
13 P. 6. 
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ferruginous hawks nesting in the same locations again. This included 
things such as 1) residential development, 2) informal ATV and other 
public use or access to trails or property for recreation or dumping, 3) 
formal and informal shooting ranges, or 4) changes in habitat quality 
due to past wildfire activity. 

Finally, we are also satisfied that the Certificate Holder’s request meets the 
requirement of providing a description of the type and location of infrastructure 
proposed within the core habitat, and of the proximity of infrastructure to any 
known nest site or suitable foraging habitat. Confidential Figure 1 of the PTAG 
Facilitator Report depicts where turbines (depicted as black dots along blue 
micrositing corridors) are proposed in relation to the two-mile radiuses surrounding 
historical nest locations. The same is true for the locations of solar arrays, depicted 
as orange fields within crosshatched solar siting areas. Battery storage areas are 
depicted as well. This information was available to the PTAG in developing its 
recommendations, and in some instances, played a role in their recommendations.14 

3. The PTAG’s interpretation of habitat viability for ferruginous hawks 

The PTAG determined that all but one of the 44 nest sites were still “available,” 
meaning the supporting nest structure, whether hillside, rock outcrop, cliff, or tree 
was still available, even if the previously documented nest is no longer present or in 
poor condition. Consequently, the availability of nest sites did not figure into the 
recommendations developed by PTAG members, and instead the continued viability 
of foraging habitat within the core two-mile radiuses was the focus of the analysis.15 

Spec-5 clarifies that 

Habitat considered no longer available for ferruginous hawk would include 
habitat that has been altered by landscape-scale development (conversion to 
cropland, residential development, industrial development) rendering the 
territory non-viable. This could include habitats that have been altered such 
that insufficient native or foraging habitat remains. 

The PTAG Facilitator Report states that “the PTAG relied on published literature and 
WDFW guidance documents to elevate cropland foraging viability, rather than the 
language of Spec-5 regarding croplands.”16 As further detailed in the Facilitator 

 
14E.g., PTAG Meeting Minutes, Meeting 6, pp. 4, 7; Ferruginous Hawk Nest Assessment Sheets include 
the consideration “Are there other setback requirements in the SCA that adequately protect the nest 
location?”.  
15 Facilitator Report, p. 4.  
16 P. 6. 
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Report, the referenced literature and guidance acknowledges that in Washington, 
ferruginous hawk tend to use a mosaic of habitat, consisting of native types 
(shrubsteppe and grassland), croplands, including both irrigated crops and dryland 
agriculture, as well as grazing lands. The management recommendations also note 
that ferruginous hawks use pasturelands and the margins and edges of croplands.17 
The Council does not find this fact to be inconsistent with the above quoted language 
of Spec-5, which was merely intended to be suggestive of landscape changes that 
could have a degrading effect on foraging habitat value. In any case, the Council 
appreciates that the PTAG was guided by the scientific literature in developing its 
recommendations, rather than by a potentially less protective interpretation of the 
Spec-5 language. 

The PTAG’s formulation of the test for foraging habitat viability was whether “placing 
new Project-related primary infrastructure between 0.6 – 2.0 miles of a nest would 
further reduce the likelihood that it would be used by ferruginous hawks in the 
future.”18 In some instances PTAG members also considered the extent to which the 
nest location already benefited from protections afforded by other buffers imposed 
in the SCA for non-participating residences, historical fires, and traditional cultural 
places and they used this consideration as a sort of tie-breaker in favor of 
recommending a finding that the habitat is no longer viable (since the risk of getting 
the determination wrong would be less consequential). The Council finds this 
approach to be consistent with the intent of Spec-5, considering that no ferruginous 
hawk nest reviewed had, until this year, been active for over five years, and only three 
have been active in the last 12 years. The SCA mandates 0.6 mile setbacks from each 
of these historic nest locations as a measure that will provide protection if, despite 
predictions to the contrary, hawks should return to these places.  

The Council had initially recommended for the Governor’s approval mandatory two-
mile setbacks from all previously documented nests.19 But in response to the 
Governor’s request to more narrowly tailor the SCA’s mitigation to allow a fuller 
buildout of the Project, the Council developed the current version of Spec-5. Like the 
earlier version, it is meant to mitigate the risk of deterring hawks from someday 
returning to regular use of nests in and near the Project site and the risk of turbine 
blade strikes should any do so. But the measure is also written to allow fuller 
buildout of the Project near nest sites where the evidence suggests hawks are less 
likely to return as result of adverse habitat changes since the nests were last active. 

 
17 P. 4.  
18 Facilitator Report, p. 9. 
19 Report to the Governor on Application Docket No. EF-220011, April 29, 2024, Page 13. 
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Thus, consistent with the PTAG’s analysis, the question before the Council is whether 
– considering when the nest was last active, surrounding habitat quality, changes in 
habitat quality and human activity since the nest was occupied – there is a low 
likelihood that ferruginous hawks will return to a nest, and therefore the additional 
0.6-to-two-mile buffer may be removed.  

B. The Certificate Holder has made the showing required by Spec-5 for 
approval to site primary components within two miles of nests A-B, but has 
failed to do so for nests X-Y. 

In this section, we explain our decision that the Certificate Holder’s request should 
be approved for certain nest locations but denied for others. Our decision is based on 
the habitat survey parameters developed by the Certificate Holder in consultation 
with the PTAG, the ferruginous hawk historic use data, and in some cases, the 
proximity of proposed infrastructure to known nest sites and foraging habitat. 

With the assistance of EFSEC staff we have reviewed the foundation for the request 
as it pertains to each of the nest sites in question.    

The Council declines to make a decision on the nest designated  in the Priority 
Species Habitat (PSH) database. Although the two-mile radius surrounding this nest 
extends into the project’s leased boundary, the SCA did not authorize the placement 
of any primary components within this area. 

Turning next to the 38 nests designated as  
 
 

 in the PHS database, we 
are persuaded, along with all of the members of the PTAG, that primary 
infrastructure can be built between 0.6 and two miles of these nests consistent with 
the considerations under Spec-5. We agree with the unanimous opinion of the PTAG 
members that the lack of documented ferruginous hawk activity, combined with 
land use changes over time, human disturbance and changes in habitat quality and 
availability (and in some cases the added assurance already provided by setbacks 
from historical fires, non-participating residences, and Webber Canyon) are 
compelling considerations to allow primary infrastructure within 0.6 - 2.0 miles of 
these nests. 

We also are persuaded by the consensus conclusion of the PTAG members that 
foraging habitat is viable surrounding the nest in which a pair of ferruginous hawks 
fledged young in the spring of 2025. But because the Certificate Holder did not 
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request the Council’s approval to place primary infrastructure within two miles of 
this nest, there is no decision before the Council with regard to this nest site. 

For the four remaining documented nest locations that are clustered near the 
recently occupied nest (designated  ,in the PHS 
database), we are persuaded by the opinions of those PTAG members (including the 
independent ecologist, the USFWS representative, the WDFW representatives, and 
the Yakama Nation representative) who recommended against a determination that 
the habitat surrounding this cluster of nests is no longer viable.20 The 
documentation shows the nest sites are all very similar in terms of geographic 
context and surrounding habitat viability to the nearby nest at which a pair of 
ferruginous hawks successfully fledged chicks this spring, providing compelling 
evidence of continued habitat viability. The Certificate Holder has not supplied any 
evidence for us to draw a different conclusion about the viability of the foraging 
habitat surrounding these former nest locations from that of the nest that was most 
recently active. The area around the five nests has the least habitat change and the 
most recent use by ferruginous hawks of the 44 nests considered.21 

In its request, the Certificate Holder asks EFSEC to reach a different conclusion, 
citing “the substantial economic and practical challenges posed” by full two-mile 
buffers at these previously documented nest locations. The Certificate Holder’s 
request explains that its compliance with the 0.6-to-two-mile buffers around this 
cluster of five nests would result in the loss of 39 wind turbines (approximately 118 
megawatt), the removal of 100 megawatt Alternating current of solar planned for 
this area, and the need to reroute electrical infrastructure through the affected 
area.22  

To reach the conclusion urged by the Certificate Holder we would need to be 
presented with a request to amend Spec-5 to allow for more nuanced buffers than 
the two-mile radius that the measure currently provides for. The Certificate Holder 
has elected not to submit such a request at this time. The question before us now is 
limited to the terms of Spec-5 as currently written: whether the nesting sites are still 
available and the foraging habitat is still viable. Unless the Certificate Holder can 
show that the answer to one of these is no, then a 0.6-to-two-mile buffer is required. 
We decline the Certificate Holder’s request to reach the opposite conclusion based 
on consideration of the impact that imposing the buffer would have on the Project’s 

 
20 Horse Heaven PTAG Meeting 7 Minutes, pp. 12-15. 
21 Id. at 10; Facilitator Report Attachment 1. 
22 Scout Clean Energy letter to Sonia Bumpus of June 17, 2025, p. 11. 
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output and its offers of voluntary buffers in areas outside the currently authorized 
Project site. 

In reaching the foregoing conclusions, we emphasize that although we highly value 
the expert input of the members of the PTAG, and in this case agreed with the advice 
of some PTAG members, the ultimate decision on matters on which the SCA requires 
PTAG input resides with EFSEC.23 

C. Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. and Benton County’s objections to the requirement for 
the Certificate Holder to obtain technical advice on mitigation plans from a 
PTAG, and to the manner in which this PTAG was constituted, are without 
merit.  

While the Certificate Holder and EFSEC staff were coming to agreement on the PTAG 
rules of procedure and on the group’s membership, Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. (TCC) 
submitted written objections to PTAG.24 Benton County followed with its own 
objections and Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. supplemented its original objection with 
concerns about the manner of the PTAG’s formation around the time of the first 
meeting of the PTAG.25 We address in this section why TCC and Benton County’s 
objections are not well-founded and why the Council concludes the process for 
receiving advice from the PTAG members was lawful. 

1. The Certificate Holder’s meetings with the PTAG were not adjudicative 
hearings, and the appearance of fairness doctrine is inapplicable to an 
advisory group like the PTAG. 

TCC argues that the PTAG was constituted in violation of various legal requirements 
that pertain to adjudicative hearings, including the appearance of fairness doctrine.  

TCC’s arguments are misplaced. The Council is only required to hold an adjudicative 
hearing under the Administrative Procedure Act, Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
34.50, in one instance – prior to making a recommendation the governor on an 
application for site certification. RCW 80.50.090(4).26  

 
23 SCA Art. IV.G. 
24 “Objection of Intervenor Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. to PTAG Establishment, Operations, Membership and 
Meetings,” March 28, 2025; “Benton County’s Joinder in Objection By Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. to PTAG 
Establishment, Operations, Membership and Meetings.” Although captioned as pleadings in the 
adjudicative hearing, that hearing process concluded with the Council’s Adjudicative Order Resolving 
Contested Issues, entered April 17, 2024.  
25 “First Addendum to Objection By Intervenor Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. to PTAG Establishment, Operations, 
Membership and Meetings,” April 18, 2025. 
26 At that hearing, “any person shall be entitled to be heard in support of or in opposition to the 
application for certification by raising one or more specific issues, provided that the person has 
raised the issue or issues in writing with specificity during the application review process.” Id. 
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The SCA’s requirement for the Certificate Holder to assemble a PTAG to provide 
technical input on its plans to implement required habitat mitigation measures does 
not trigger the need for another adjudicative hearing.  

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) requires an agency to conduct adjudicative 
hearings only when required by law or constitutional right. RCW 34.05.413(2). There 
is nothing in law27 to require, nor any practical reason to hold an adjudicative 
hearing on the details of a Certificate Holder’s plans for implementing an approved 
site certification agreement.  

The PTAG process is designed to be collaborative rather than adversarial. The PTAG 
members are expected to bring their own knowledge, expertise, and perspectives to 
bear in the advice they provide. Neither the APA’s provisions for adjudicative 
hearings nor the appearance of fairness doctrine applies to this technical advisory 
process. 

2. Because the PTAG member’s role is merely advisory and not that of the 
governing body of an agency or subagency, and it does not receive public 
comment on behalf of the Council, the Open Public Meetings Act does not 
apply to its discussions. 

TCC and Benton County argue, incorrectly, that the PTAG’s meetings are in violation 
of the Open Public Meetings Act (OPMA), RCW 42.30. 

The PTAG is not subject to the requirements of the OPMA (such as publication of 
notice or meetings, opportunity for public attendance at a physical location, and in 
some instances an opportunity for public comment). Moreover, because its 
discussions are concerned with sensitive wildlife information protected from public 
disclosure under RCW 42.56.430(2), opening the PTAG’s sessions to the public would 
severely hinder free discussion and exchange of opinions and information. 

The OPMA applies to “governing bodies” and to any “committee thereof when the 
committee acts on behalf of the governing body, conducts hearings, or takes 
testimony or public comment.” RCW 42.30.020(2). In 2015, the State Supreme Court 
concluded that a committee “acts on behalf of the governing body” only “when it 
exercises actual or de facto decision-making authority for the governing body.” 
Citizens Alliance for Prop. Rights Legal Fund v. San Juan County, 184 Wn.2d 428, 
(2015).  A committee is not exercising such authority when it is simply conducting 

 
27 EFSEC’s decisions on a Certificate Holders’ plans for implementing SCA mandated habitat and 
wildlife mitigation measures do not deprive anyone of a recognized property interest so as to trigger 
constitutional due process and the need for an adjudicative hearing. 
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internal discussions or providing advice or information to the governing body, as is 
the role of the PTAG set forth in Article IV.G of the site certification agreement.28  

3. The PTAG rules of procedure ensured that each PTAG member’s expert 
advice was communicated, without undue influence or screening by the 
Certificate Holder. 

In its April 2025 objection, TCC argued that the PTAG would be biased in favor of the 
Certificate Holder, that the recommendations of its members would be subject to the 
Certificate Holder’s control, and that EFSEC would merely rubber stamp its thus 
flawed recommendations. 

The record before us demonstrates that TCC’s concerns were misplaced. The PTAG’s 
rules of procedure and the membership of the PTAG helped ensure that the process 
was rigorous and reflective of the independence and professional integrity of its 
technically qualified members. The Facilitator’s Report and the Minutes of the PTAG 
Meetings (both of which were reviewed by PTAG members before being provided to 
EFSEC) transparently reflect the nuanced and at-times-differing views of the PTAG 
members on the issues before them.  

4. The PTAG’s rules of procedure are not “generally applicable” rules and EFSEC 
was not required to adopt them through notice and comment rulemaking 
under the Administrative Procedure Act. 

TCC incorrectly argues that EFSEC was required to follow the Administrative 
Procedure Act’s formal rulemaking procedures to approve the Horse Heaven Wind 
Farm PTAG rule of procedure. 

The APA defines a “rule” to which the Act’s rulemaking procedures apply as “any 
agency order, directive, or regulation of general applicability.” RCW 34.05.010(16). An 
action is of general applicability if it applies uniformly to all members of a class. The 
application of policy to a single contract or assessment of individual benefits is not a 
rule. Northwest Pulp & Paper Ass’n v. Dept. of Ecology, 200 Wash.2d 666, 673 (2022). 
The Horse Heaven Wind Farm PTAG’s rules of procedure are not “generally 
applicable.” They apply only to Horse Heaven Wind Farm LLC’s implementation of 

 
28 See 1986 Op. Att’y Gen. No. 16 (Dec. 31, 1986) citing the analysis of the court in Sanders v. Benton, 579 
P.2d 815 (Okla. 1978) as illustrative of “the line between exercising actual or de facto decisionmaking 
powers and simply giving advice.” That court ruled that a citizens advisory committee impaneled by 
the state Board of Corrections to provide information to assist in determining the site for a 
community treatment center for the housing of certain classes of criminal offenders was not subject 
to the open meeting law. That committee’s advisory role, and its lack of actual or de facto 
decisionmaking authority, is analogous to that of the PTAG. 
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the Horse Heaven Wind Farm SCA. EFSEC was not required to adopt them through 
formal notice and comment rulemaking under the APA. 

5. The EFSEC Director’s approval of the PTAG Rules of Procedure was consistent 
with EFSEC’s lawful delegation policy. 

TCC incorrectly argues that the EFSEC Director acted without legal authority to 
approve the PTAG rules of procedure.29 

EFSEC’s longstanding Policy #16-01, Delegating Certain Plan Approvals to the EFSEC 
Manager authorized the EFSEC Manager (now Director) to approve “technical 
advisory committee rules of procedure.” Director Bumpus approved the Horse 
Heaven Wind Farm’s PTAG rules of procedure under that lawful delegation of 
authority.  

Courts have consistently upheld the transfer of authority from the heads of 
agencies to subordinates to free agency heads to concentrate their attention on the 
larger and more important questions. This practice is referred to as “subdelegation.” 
At the federal level “[t]he courts permit subdelegation when Congress has 
authorized subdelegation or when the statute is silent on the matter.” In Jackstadt v. 
Wash. State Patrol, 96 Wash.App. 501, 512-13 (1999), the Washington court of appeals 
favorably sited this federal case law in upholding delegation of a decision by the 
Chief of the Washington State Patrol to a subordinate.  

Because RCW 80.50 does not expressly assign approval of the plans Certificate 
Holders must submit under certification agreements to the Council itself, the 
Council may lawfully delegate review and approval of these plans to the Director.   

Moreover, having now reviewed the terms of the PTAG’s rules of procedure, the 
Council finds them reasonable and acceptable for the PTAG’s advisory purposes 
under the SCA.  

6. The site certification agreement’s requirement for the Certificate Holder to 
develop detailed mitigation plans with advice from the PTAG does not mean 
EFSEC’s environmental impact statement was incomplete or legally 
inadequate. 

 
29 The SCA, at Art. IV.G, states that: “The Certificate Holder shall submit to EFSEC for approval 
proposed Rules of Procedure describing how the PTAG shall operate, including but not limited to a 
schedule for meetings, a meeting procedure, a process for recording meeting discussions, a process 
for making and presenting timely PTAG recommendations to the Council, and other procedures that 
will assist the PTAG to function properly and efficiently.” 
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In its objection, Benton County argued that the requirement for the Certificate 
Holder to receive technical input from the PTAG on its implementation of mitigation 
measures required under the SCA violates the State Environmental Policy Act 
(SEPA), RCW 43.21C. Benton County’s objections misunderstand the purpose of the 
PTAG in implementing the SCA’s wildlife and habitat mitigation measures.  

The general concept of the Spec-5 mitigation measure was developed in EFSEC’s 
environmental impact statement prepared to inform the Council’s recommendation 
to the Governor on the application for site certification.  

The measure was designed to mitigate significant adverse impacts of the Proposal to 
ferruginous hawks as a result of placing primary infrastructure near the birds’ 
historic nest locations to which they might one day return. The adverse effects 
sought to be mitigated were 1) discouraging the hawks from returning to their 
historic nesting sites as a result of placing primary components within the two-mile 
core habitats surrounding the locations, and 2) turbine strikes, should the birds 
return to use those nest locations following construction. The Final Environmental 
Impact Statement (FEIS) recommended a presumptive two-mile buffer from 
documented nest sites, with allowance for the buffer to be removed if further 
analysis showed the nest structure or surrounding foraging habitat was actually no 
longer viable.  

The Council added more protectiveness to the mitigation measure as presented in 
the FEIS by requiring a 0.6 mile buffer around all documented ferruginous hawk 
nests regardless of any subsequent recommendation about whether the nest still 
exists or the surrounding foraging habitat is still viable. But between 0.6 and two 
miles, the version of Spec-5 adopted in the SCA mirrors the FEIS recommendation 
by imposing a buffer for primary infrastructure unless the Certificate Holder can 
show that the nest structure is no longer present or the surrounding habitat is no 
longer viable. 

The SEPA rules do not require that all the details of the mitigation required for a 
proposal be fixed at the first decision point for that proposal. The rules state that “the 
lead agency shall prepare its threshold determination and environmental impact 
statement (EIS), if required, at the earliest possible point in the planning and 
decision-making process, when the principal features of a proposal and its 
environmental impacts can be reasonably identified.” (Emphasis added.)30 “The fact 
that proposals may require future agency approvals or environmental review shall 

 
30 WAC 197-11-055(2). 
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not preclude current consideration, as long as proposed future activities are specific 
enough to allow some evaluation of their probable environmental impacts.”31  

Spec-5’s allowance for the Certificate Holder to obtain relief from the presumptive 
0.6-to-two-mile buffers represents a cautious and protective, yet flexible approach, 
and was recommended in the FEIS when the principal features of the proposal and 
its environmental impacts could be reasonably identified. 

RESOLUTION 

The Council hereby: 

Declines to decide the Certificate Holder’s request to site turbines, solar arrays and 
BESS (primary components) within 0.6 to two miles of the nest location designated 
as  in the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife’s Priority Species and 
Habitat (PHS) database. 

Approves the Certificate Holder’s request to site primary components within 0.6 to 
two miles of the nest locations designated as  

 
 

 in the PHS 
database. 

Denies the Certificate Holder’s request to site turbines within 0.6 to two miles of the 
nests designated as   in the PHS database.  

For the nest locations where the Council has approved the siting of primary 
infrastructure within 0.6 to two miles of designated nests, the Certificate Holder 
must obtain the EFSEC Director’s approval of a Project-specific ferruginous hawk 
mitigation and management plan conforming with SCA’s Special Status Species 
mitigation measure number five (Spec-5). 

DATED at Lacey, Washington and effective on DATE 

WASHINGTON ENERGY FACILITY SITE EVALUATION COUNCIL 

 
 
__________________________________  __________________________________ 

Stacey Brewster, EFSEC Acting Chair  Sonia E. Bumpus, EFSEC Director 

 
31 Id. 



Cascade Renewable Transmission Project 

General Description: Request to construct and operate a high-voltage direct current (HVDC) (400-kilovolt 
[kV]), 1,100-megawatt (MW) electric transmission facility. The facility would 
interconnect the existing Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) Big Eddy substation, 
located near The Dalles, Wasco County, Oregon (Eastern Interconnection), and the 
existing Portland General Electric (PGE) Harborton substation, located in Portland, 
Multnomah County, Oregon (Western Interconnection). The Project would be constructed 
primarily in the bed of the Columbia River in both Oregon and Washington, with 
approximately 40.2 route miles located in Washington and approximately 58 route miles 
and two converter stations located in Oregon. The Project includes exiting and re-entering 
the Columbia River in Washington to place approximately 7.6 miles of overland buried 
transmission cable in Washington, primarily in road ROW, to avoid the Bonneville Locks 
and Dam.  

Location: Skamania, Klickitat, and Clark Counties, Washington. 

Applicant: Cascade Renewable Transmission LLC 

Milestone Dates: 

• ASC submitted October 6, 2025 

Status: Location Map:  
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Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council  

 
 

Non-Direct Cost Allocation 
for 

2nd Quarter FY 2026  
 

Oct 1, 2025 – Dec 31, 2025 
 
 
The EFSEC Cost Allocation Plan (Plan) was approved by the Energy Facility Site 
Evaluation Council in September 2004. The Plan directed review of the past quarter’s 
percentage of EFSEC technical staff’s average FTE’s, charged to EFSEC projects. This 
along with anticipated work for the quarter is used as the basis for determining the non-
direct cost percentage charge, for each EFSEC project.   
 
Using the procedures for developing cost allocation, and allowance for new projects, the 
following percentages shall be used to allocate EFSEC’s non direct costs for the 2nd 
quarter of FY 2026. 
 

Columbia Generating Station 20% 
Horse Heaven Wind Farm Project 10% 
Cascade Renewable Transmission        8% 
Chehalis Generation Project 6% 
Grays Harbor 1&2 6% 
Carriger Solar 6% 
Goldeneye 5% 
Wallula Gap 5% 
Columbia Solar 4% 
CCR Ostrea 4% 
Goose Prairie Solar Project 4% 
Hop Hill  4% 
Kittitas Valley Wind Power Project 4% 
Wild Horse Wind Power Project 4% 
Wautoma Solar Project 3% 
WNP-1 3% 
Badger Mountain 2% 
CCR High Top 2% 

 
 
 
       Date: 10/08/2025 
Sonia E. Bumpus, EFSEC Manager  
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